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Key Figures in brief

377.0

M. CHF SALES.  
INCREASE OF 2.6 %  
TO PREVIOUS YEAR.

23.4
M. CHF GROUP NET 
PROFIT. INCREASE OF 
12.5 % TO PREVIOUS 
YEAR.

48.79
CHF NET PROFIT PER 
BEARER SHARE.  
IN THE PREVIOUS 
YEAR THIS AMOUNT 
WAS CHF 43.41.

45.9
M. CHF EBITDA.  
INCREASE OF 7.1 %  
TO PREVIOUS YEAR 
(42.8 M. CHF).

150.2
M. CHF SHARE
HOLDERS’ EQUITY. 
THAT CORRESPONDS 
TO AN EQUITY RATIO 
OF 56.8 %.

16.6

PERCENTAGE RETURN 
ON EQUITY.

32.3
M. CHF EBIT.  
THAT CORRESPONDS 
TO AN EBIT-MARGIN 
OF 8.6 %.

56.4
M. CHF NET DEPT.  
THE NET DEPT IN THE 
PREVIOUS YEAR 
AMOUNTED TO 
65.4 M. CHF.

1’378
EMPLOYEES (FTES). 
THAT MEANS AN 
 INCREASE OF 57 FTES 
TO 2013.
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One Group. Many Teams. One Goal.

Hügli was founded in Switzerland in 1935. Today it is one of the leading 
European companies for the development, production and marketing of dry 
blends in the convenience segment such as soups, sauces, bouillons, ready 
to serve meals, desserts, functional food as well as Italian specialities.  Hügli 
caters to the kitchens of the professional out of home market, manufactures 
products for brand companies, food industry as well as for food retailers. 
With its flavour adding semi-finished products, Hügli partners with food 
manufacturers and sells own brands, mostly of organic quality, to consumers. 
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Group

GROWTH ABOVE 
MARKET LEVEL/
OVERPROPORTIONAL 
INCREASE OF EBIT

Markets

SELECTED PRODUCTS 
IN NICHE MARKETS

Countries

DEVELOPMENT OF 
 EXISTING MARKETS/
EVALUATION OF 
 FURTHER DISTRI
BUTION COUNTRIES

Cus
tomers

CUSTOMER-ORIENTED 
PRODUCTION AT FIVE 
LOCATIONS

Divisions

BALANCED GROWTH  
THROUGHOUT  
ALL SALES DIVISIONS

Employ
ees
MOTIVATING  
HÜGLI CULTURE:  
THE EMPLOYEE  
AS  ENTREPRENEUR

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

CORE COMPETENCES

Personnel 2014

in %/Number of full-time positions

 Germany 53 % 726

 Eastern Europe 18 % 251

 Switzerland 16 % 214

 United Kingdom 8 % 110

 Italy 3 % 42

 Austria 3 % 35

 Total: 100 % 1’378

One Group. One Goal ••• The Hügli Group
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OUR HISTORY

The principal firm was established in Arbon, Switzerland, in 1935 by the industrial entrepreneur Beat 
Stoffel. He was prompted by the future Group’s name giver Otto Hügli, who was the company’s first 
manager and a gifted product developer. The first steps of expansion took the firm in 1959 around 
Lake Constance to Hard in Austria and in 1964 to Radolfzell in Germany. Today, Hügli has 800 employ-
ees and is one of most important employers in the Lake Constance area. The expansion was taken 
further in 2000, when the Group acquired a new production site in Zasmuky, Czech Republic. From 
Zasmuky, Hügli has been developing the Group’s sales and distribution business in other Eastern Euro-
pean countries, in Poland in 2002, in Slovakia in 2003 and in Hungary in 2005. The most recent geo-
graphical expansions occurred through the acquisition of specialised production sites in 2007 at the 
Southern foot of the Alps in Brivio, Italy, and in 2008 in Redditch, in the heart of the United Kingdom.

OUR VISION

We want to work only in markets and production areas, in which we can excel in the performance of 
relevant services for our clients. The service to customers is the main focus of the thinking and conduct 
of all our employees.

OUR MISSION

Hügli specialises in the creative development and efficient production of foods in the convenience 
segment, primarily comprising of soups, sauces, bouillons, seasonings, instant meals, desserts and 
Italian specialities. Sales and distribution concentrate on selected countries, in which Hügli can offer 
customers a higher quality than the competitors. A production located in the customers’ vicinity and 
direct marketing addressed to professional customers form the core of the Group’s strategy. Hügli aims 
to heighten the customer benefit with better products – and these are recognised not least by their 
 flavour. It goes without saying that Hügli stands for the highest production quality, which is periodi-
cally confirmed through an external quality certification.

OUR OBJECTIVES

Hügli’s strategy has a long-term focus on sustainable growth. The Group wants to grow over- 
proportionally and achieve sales growth of above 5 % on the long term. Potential company acquisitions 
are taken into consideration periodically as they round off the product line, and production technology, 
and serve the market development in a new country. The sale of own products is a main objective 
while the product line is supplemented with selected trade goods in line with customer needs. Growth 
is to be broadly achieved throughout all sales divisions. Hügli is committed to its economic and social 
responsibility towards its stakeholders – employees, business partners, shareholders and investors – 
and strives to achieve an adequate return on the invested capital through sustainable growth, contin-
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uous process improvement and consistent cost management. This is the best foundation for a  steadily 
and solidly growing company that is rooted locally and active all across Europe.

OUR DIVISIONAL SALES AND DISTRIBUTION STRUCTURE

The Group consists in five specialised sales and distribution divisions which cater for differing  
customer needs.

Food Service
The largest division concentrates on the customer segments restaurants, hotels, canteens and similar 
institutions. Sales and distribution are effected through Hügli’s sales offices. In this area of business 
depending on product segment and country Hügli is number 2 or 3 in Europe. A comprehensive sales 
organisation with over 250 vendors in 8 countries reaches more than 40’000 customers directly. Out-
standing own products are combined with selected trade specialities, with which Hügli can supply 
customers with a well-balanced product line for a high standard cuisine.

Private Label
The Hügli Group is one of the biggest Private Label Retail producers of dry blended meals in Europe. 
Hügli manufactures own brands of several leading retail food trade organisations. The market share 
of these products has in the past years been consistently increasing, thanks to a very good price- 
performance-ratio.

Brand Solutions
The customers of the Brand Solutions Division are marketing and sales organisations with own brands. 
We produce for these customers consumer packages under their own brands, beside the Hügli core 
product line also in the range of dressings, liquid sauces, slimming and dietary products as well as 
sports nutrition. In addition to the manufacturing of brand products ready for sale, Hügli offers a 
comprehensive range of product related services in culinary art, trends and technology.

Sales based on location of customers 2014

in %

 Germany 55 %

 Switzerland 14 %

 Eastern Europe 7 %

 Austria 7 %

 United Kingdom 9 %

 Italy 2 %

 Others 6 %

Product groups 2014

in %

  Soups, sauces, bouillons, 
seasonings, prepared 
dishes 64 %

 Trade goods 20 %

  Other products of  
own manufacture 16 %

Hügli Annual Report 2014 ••• The Hügli Group04

GB_2014_EN_02_Image   4 31.03.15   11:38



WELL POSITIONED IN EUROPE

 Production sites
••• Switzerland – sites Steinach and St. Gallen
••• Germany – sites Radolfzell (2) and  

Neuburg/Kammel
••• United Kingdom – site Redditch
••• Italy – site Brivio
••• Czech Republic – site Zásmuky

 Sales companies
••• Austria – Hard
••• Slovakia – Trnava
••• Poland – Lodz
••• Hungary – Budapest
••• Germany – Hameln

Hügli Annual Report 2014 ••• The Hügli Group

Food Industry
The Food Industry Division supplies a large number of well-known customers of the food processing 
industry with semi-finished products and in the sense of outsourcing as well as with consumer pack-
ages. In the offered product segments of compounds, flavours and snack seasonings customers profit 
from Hügli’s extensive know-how and innovative product development. The shortest possible reaction 
time and high flexibility are a must for our customers. Hügli Food Industry does not sell products only, 
it also sells solutions.

Consumer Brands
The Consumer Brands Division sells Hügli’s own brands such as Heirler, Cenovis, Neuco, Natur Com-
pagnie or Erntesegen to health food stores, natural food stores, as well as to the food retail trade. The 
product line comprises of products manufactured by Hügli within the product groups of soups, sauc-
es, bouillons, seasonings and ready-to-serve meals, as well as a range of merchandise consisting main-
ly of dairy products, oils, delicatessen articles and substitute meat products, mostly of organic quality. 
The Tellofix and Oscho brands are sold via various distribution channels directly to end customers.

05
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Solid growth, significantly improved earnings

••• Sales up +3.6 % in 2014 (+2.6 % in CHF) to CHF 377 million
••• EBIT improved by +10.2 %, EBIT margin increases from 8.0 % to 8.6 %
••• 2014 Group profit up by +12.5 % to CHF 23.4 million
••• Higher dividend of CHF 16.00 per share proposed
••• 2015 outlook: Excellent operating performance will be neutralized due to translation to 

Swiss Francs; Sales and EBIT in 2015 are thus expected to be on a par with 2014

 

DEAR READERS,

European foodstuffs market is challenging
The Group’s sales grew organically by +3.6 %, primarily due to higher sales quantities (price effects 
+0.8 %). Sales in Swiss Francs were depressed by negative currency translation effects and lifted by 
+2.6 % to CHF 377 million. In view of the stagnating market for foodstuffs in Europe, we believe that 
this is comparatively good performance. Our largest segment of Germany enjoyed particularly pleasing 
organic sales growth of +7.3 % with the support of all our sales divisions. The geographic segment of 
Switzerland/Rest of Western Europe segment was –1.9 % down on the previous year. This figure was 
depressed in particular by the Food Service Division (out of home market) in Switzerland, Austria and 
Italy. After growth of +7.0 % in the previous year the UK suffered a temporary setback as a result of the 
loss of a key account. The sales downturn in the Eastern Europe Segment totaled –0.8 % with Food 
Service providing convincing growth, however listing sales were lost in food retail.

Varied acceleration in the sales divisions 
While the difficult market environment slowed the general growth of all of our divisions, the Private 
Label division (food retail) recorded accelerated growth, in particular as a result of the temporary 
 absence on the market of a major competitor. This led to sales increasing by +10.7 % on the whole. The 
high-growth division Brand Solutions (products for brand companies, increasingly in organic quality) 
once again recorded excellent growth of +7.1 %, however it was not possible to match the extraordi-
narily rapid growth enjoyed in the previous year (+17.8 %). The Food Industry division turned around 
after two difficult years, and recorded organic growth of +0.7 % in 2014. The largest division, Food 
Service, had to battle lower consumption on the out of home market in Western Europe, in particular 
in the gastronomy segment. Growth slowed to +0.3 %. In the Consumer Brands division, the organic 
segment supported Hügli’s brand business, recording organic growth of +2.8 %.

Acquisition of EDEN and granoVita brands as of 1 January 2015 
Hügli has significantly reinforced its natural food sector by acquiring primaVita’s brand business. The 
two primary brands acquired were EDEN and granoVita, which are both strong, well-established brands, 
standing for more than 100 years of competence in healthy nutrition. EDEN has been the organic pio-
neer for sales of natural foodstuffs since 1883 and offers a wide range of vegetarian and vegan products. 
The granoVita brand stands for excellent flavor and top quality products without additives. 
From 2015 annual sales of EUR 19 million will be recorded thanks to these acquisitions, and synergies 
within a strong corporate group will be exploited. This transaction underscores Hügli’s aim of grow-
ing further on its core, consolidating markets. The merger reinforces sales competence and our 
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 position on a highly interesting market, and it offers additional potential to record profitable and 
sustainable growth. 

Gross margin stable, profitability increases disproportionately
Prices for raw materials and packaging have stabilised at a higher level since mid-2013 after having 
increased substantially in the previous two years. It has thus been possible to keep the gross margin 
for the products sold stable at the prior year’s level. As a result of the excellent order book and the 
associated expansion of our warehouse for finished goods, coupled with insourcing Vogeley production, 
the increase in our total operating revenues was significantly higher than sales compared to the pre-
vious year. The Group’s staff grew by +4.3 % or 57 employees year-on-year to a total of 1’378 full-time 
positions. Both our currency-adjusted personnel expenses were up by +4.1 % and our other operating 
expenses lifted by +4.5 %, increasing at a disproportionately lower rate than total operating revenues. 
Our projects to improve efficiency (lean management) at various sites made a major contribution in 
this regard.
EBIT thus enjoyed above-average growth of +10.2 % to a total of CHF 32.3 million. The EBIT margin of 
8.6 % is in the middle of the strategic target corridor of 8 %–9 %. Interest expenses were lower once 
again, which allowed consolidated profits to lift by +12.5 % to CHF 23.4 million. This resulted in a  profit 
margin of 6.2 % in fiscal year 2014.

Strong balance sheet, improved profitability 
The balance sheet continues to be very solid. Our net current assets increased based on higher total 
operating revenues. This was mostly due to the higher inventories of finished goods. Our cash flow 
was also more than sufficient for our higher investments in machinery and equipment, which meant 
that we could use our free cash flow to repay liabilities to banks. Net debt fell by CHF –9.0 million to 
CHF 56.4 million, which corresponds to a low net debt to EBITDA ratio of 1.2x. At the same time,  equity 
increased by CHF 13.3 million to CHF 150.2 million, which corresponds to an equity ratio of total assets 
of 56.8 %. In addition, the return on invested capital (ROIC) was also increased again from 9.8 % to 
10.9 %, which thus increased the amount of added value once again.

Thomas Bodenmann, CEO (left)  
and Dr Jean Gérard Villot, Chairman of the 
Board of Directors (right)

Hügli Annual Report 2014 ••• Editorial 07
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Higher dividends
The Board of Directors is proposing a higher dividend of CHF 16.00 per bearer share (previous year: 
CHF 14.00) to the General Meeting on 20 May 2015. This dividend corresponds to a payout ratio of 
33 %.

Outlook 2015 – Exchange rates thwart high operating growth
Good organic growth in the middle single-digit percentage range is forecast for 2015. In addition, the 
acquisition at the start of 2015 will boost sales in the amount of around CHF 20 million. The organic 
EBIT growth rate will increase slightly faster than sales. The planned contributions to earnings from 
the acquisition in its first year of integration will not be material due to one-off costs, which means 
that the EBIT margin in local currency is expected to be on a par with the previous year.
The Swiss Franc exchange rates which have applied since the middle of January 2015 are substantially 
lower than the 2014 figures in the currencies that are relevant for Hügli, in particular the Euro. As a 
result, sales and income recorded outside Switzerland, around 80 % of Hügli Group, will be translated 
to Swiss Franc at a lower rate (currency translation effect). Given the current exchange rates, we have 
to assume that the new exchange rates will have a negative impact on our good organic operating 
revenues, which means that we are forecasting our reported sales and EBIT in 2015 to be on a com-
parable level to 2014.

Steinach, March 2015

Dr Jean Gérard Villot
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Thomas Bodenmann
CEO, President of the Group Executive  
Management
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Many Teams ••• Divisions and Production

56
m. CHF Sales 
Division Brand 
Solutions

37
m. CHF Sales 
Division Food 
Industry

45
m. CHF Sales 
Division 
 Consumer 
Brands

77
m. CHF Sales 
Division  
Private Label

162
m. CHF Sales 
Division  
Food Service
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MARKET  
PRESENCE

under the brands 
Hügli, Supro, 
 Tutto Gusto, 
 Vogeley

OWN  
PRODUCTS

and trading 
goods as 
 completion

SALES 
ORGANISA
TION

To bulk con-
sumers and 
 customers in  
gastronomy 

Division Food Service

40’000

Customers such 
as Restaurants/
Hotels/Canteens/
hospitals/ 
Caterer

Hügli Annual Report 2014 ••• Division Food Service

Share of sales 2014

in million CHF

 Food Service 161.6

 Private Label 77.4

 Brand Solutions 56.1

 Food Industry 36.7 

 Consumer Brands 44.6

Development of sales/ 
organic growth 2010–2014

in million CHF/in %  

(   Development of sales/—organic growth)

200

100

0

10

5

–5

0

153
140 133

162

1.5

–0.6

–2.8

0.3

164

0.3

2010 2011 2012 20142013
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THE FOOD SERVICE DIVISION EXCLUSIVELY SERVES THE ‘OUT OF HOME’ MARKET. 
OUR  CUSTOMER SEGMENTS HERE INCLUDE GASTRONOMY, CANTEENS, HOSPITALS, 
INSTITUTES AND INSTITUTIONS, CATERERS, THE ARMED FORCES AND OTHERS.  
IN ADDITION TO OUR CORE PRODUCT LINES OF SAUCES, BOUILLONS AND SOUPS, 
WE ALSO OFFER OUR CUSTOMERS ADDITIONAL PRODUCTS FROM OUR OWN 
 PRODUCTION INCLUDING DESSERTS, BASIC PRODUCTS, DRESSINGS AND ITALIAN 
SPECIALITIES. WE HAVE ALSO STRENGTHENED OUR PRODUCT PORTFOLIO IN  
THE VARIOUS COUNTRIES WITH SELECTED EXCLUSIVE AND COMMERCIAL PRO
DUCT RANGES.

Stable growth on difficult markets
Just as expected, 2014 was a year that posed ma-
jor challenges for us. Markets in all countries con-
tinued to be weak, and also the new Foodstuff 
Information Directive came into effect, which 
caused substantial uncertainties among our cus-
tomers, and also led to major expenses for us. In 
addition the climatic turbulence, in particular in 
the summer, meant that we were not able to 
reach some of the targets we had set ourselves, 
and that on the whole we were only able to record 
slight growth of 0.3 %. 
Growth was varied in the DACH region (Germany, 
Austria and Switzerland). Our traditional market 
with the Hügli brand in Germany grew positively 
with excellent revenue growth. After integrating 
the Vogeley brand in 2013, our primary focus in 
2014 was implementing the strategy we had 
worked out. We have made excellent progress in 
this regard, even if we have not been able to fully 
exploit all the potential offered. Our business in 
Switzerland and Austria is characterised to a great 
extent by hotels, restaurants and tourism, and our 
sales here fell, in particular as a result of the rainy 
summer.
Our food service business in Italy once again had 
to face a setback with the loss of a key account. 
In spite of this, however, we believe that the strat-
egy we have taken means that we are right on 
track, as could be seen at various junctures in 
2014. Our export business exceeded our forecasts 

significantly, and here we were able to generate 
additional revenues.

Positive business development in EAST
Despite the downturn on the markets, we were 
able to grow our business in the EAST countries. 
The pace of growth increased substantially in the 
second half of the year in particular. We recorded 
excellent revenue growth and our focus on our 
core product ranges has allowed us to improve our 
margins. Growth in Slovakia and Hungary has par-
alleled this development. In both countries we 
were able to record growth rates in the upper sin-
gle digit percentage range. Our consistent contin-
uation of our strategy in Poland also stood the test 
in 2014 and brought us double-digit revenue 
growth and a further improvement in profitability.

Outlook 2015
We believe that our flexibility and customer ori-
entation mean that we are excellently equipped 
to face 2015, despite the difficult market environ-
ment. There is additional potential in our core 
product ranges in particular. The trend to more 
convenience is opening up additional opportuni-
ties in all countries. Here, we are able to use the 
expertise and technology which the group already 
has, and to launch corresponding products in all 
countries and to develop new customer groups 
for our company. We are forecasting moderate 
revenue growth in 2015. 

Manfred Jablowski 
Head of Food Service/ 
Member of the Group 
 Executive Management
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IN 33

countries hügli 
private label 
products are 
present

220’000’000 
TIMES EACH 
YEAR

 customers in 
 europe choose a 
hügli product

700

products tailored 
to customers are 
distributed by the 
Private Label divi-
sion

Division Private Label

10.7

Percentage 
 organic growth 
in 2014
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Share of sales 2014

in million CHF

 Food Service 161.6

 Private Label 77.4

 Brand Solutions 56.1

 Food Industry 36.7 

 Consumer Brands 44.6

Development of sales/ 
organic growth 2010–2014 

in million CHF/in % 

(   Development of sales/—organic growth)
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THE PRIVATE LABEL LEH DIVISION SUPPLIES RETAIL ORGANISATIONS THROUGHOUT 
EUROPE. THE PRODUCT RANGE CONSISTS OF SOUPS, SAUCES AND BOUILLONS  
IN VARIOUS PACK SIZES. FOLLOWING LARGE INVESTMENTS AT THE HÜGLI SITE IN 
BRIVIO, ITALY, THE SALE OF WET PRODUCTS, IN PARTICULAR ORIGINAL ITALIAN 
PASTA SAUCES, IS ALSO INCREASING. PRIVATE LABEL MEANS THAT OUR PRODUCTS 
ARE NOT SOLD AS HÜGLIBRAND PRODUCTS, BUT RATHER UNDER THE BRAND – 
THE LABEL – OF THE RELEVANT NAME OF THE FOOD RETAILER. THE PRIVATE LABEL 
PRODUCT RANGE IS MOSTLY MANUFACTURED AT THREE SITES: IN RADOLFZELL 
(GERMANY), ZASMUKY (CZECH REPUBLIC) AND ALSO IN REDDITCH (UK). ALL OF 
OUR OFFERS ARE COORDINATED TO THE NEEDS OF THE SPECIFIC CUSTOMERS AND 
COUNTRIES IN CLOSE COOPERATION WITH OUR LOCAL PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT 
DEPARTMENTS.

Profitability level is a priority
In 2013 we already parted company with unprof-
itable businesses and implemented indispensa-
ble price increases, which allowed us to increase 
our profitability, and the further efforts that we 
made in 2014 meant that our earnings in the Pri-
vate Label division continued to get positive.

Revenue growth from changed com-
petitive situation
The fact that a key competitor left the market 
opened up opportunities for us in Germany and 
in neighboring countries, including taking over 
various orders of a significant size. We were also 
able to generate additional business in the Unit-
ed Kingdom despite a very tough competitive 
environment. It was possible to compensate to a 
significant extent for the loss of our biggest cus-
tomer.

As a result, Private Label recorded substantial 
 organic revenue growth of +10.7 % in 2014.

Perspectives: Growing new business 
and developing new potential with 
strategic orientation to top 30
The Private Label division has been consistently 
reoriented in the past two years. Instead of fol-
lowing geographic boundaries, we are now focus-
ing on the major international retail chains. These 
are the only customers which offer the necessary 
size to be able to profitably develop and market 
customised product ranges. The newly acquired 
business will continue to have a positive impact 
on revenue growth in 2015, however this is also 
where potential for the coming years is to be 
found – allowing us to continue to enjoy positive 
growth on falling market in what is already a 
heightened competitive market. 

Jörg Meyer 
Head of Private Label/ 
Member of the Group  
Executive Management
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7.1

Percentage 
 organic growth 
in 2014

CUSTOMISED  
SOLUTIONS

extensive port-
folio of services, 
 customised 
 solutions

CONTRIBU
TION TO 
GROWTH

dynamic growth 
in the Organic 
and Health &  
Nutrition sector

Division Brand Solutions

56.1

M. CHF sales  
in 2014
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Share of sales 2014

in million CHF

 Food Service 161.6

 Private Label 77.4

 Brand Solutions 56.1

 Food Industry 36.7 

 Consumer Brands 44.6

Development of sales/ 
organic growth 2011–2014 

in million CHF/in % 

(   Development of sales/—organic growth)
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BRAND SOLUTIONS – THE DIVISION FOR SALES AND MARKETING COMPANIES.  
WE OFFER AN EXTENSIVE PORTFOLIO OF SERVICES FOR BRAND OWNERS WITHOUT 
THEIR OWN PRODUCTION – FROM ADVICE ON NEW PRODUCT LINES, THROUGH 
TO PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT,  SUPPORT IN PACKAGE DESIGN, THROUGH TO THE 
FINISHED PRODUCT AND THE DESIRED MARKETING SUPPORT. TAILORED TO THE 
CUSTOMER’S NEEDS. WE OFFER THESE SERVICES IN ALL OF HÜGLI’S PRODUCT 
 CATEGORIES AND IN THE SALES SEGMENTS WEIGHT MANAGEMENT, BALANCED 
NUTRITION AND SPORTS NUTRITION (“HEALTH & NUTRITION”), CON VENTIONAL 
PRODUCTS (“CLASSIC”) AND ORGANICALLY GROWN PRODUCTS (“ORGANIC”).  
WE BELIEVE THAT WE ARE THE EUROPEAN MARKET LEADER IN THE ORGANIC 
 SEGMENT.

In 2014 the Brand Solutions division 
 exceeded the targets it had set  
itself for the third successive year
This division plays an above average role in  
the group’s success with organic growth of 7.1 % 
with customers in sales and marketing compa-
nies. It has recorded its growth in the Organic 
(organic products for the European organic 
brands) and Health & Nutrition (products for cus-
tomers with brands in the weight management, 
sports nutrition and balance nutrition segments) 
product segments. The Classic area (tra ditional 
products) was on a par with the previous year.

Organic European market leader
In the Organic segment we further reinforced our 
position as the European market leader for  
the innovative development and production of 
organic products – together with our Consumer 
Brands division. We have unique expertise in this 
segment, coupled with close strategic alliances 
with key European brands in this product seg-
ment.

Continued establishment Health &  
Nutrition
We continued to establish our Health & Nutrition 
segment in 2014, although the Ukraine crisis had 
a direct impact and a downturn in the pace of 
growth prevented even better earnings. Several 
key new customers mean that we are taking an 
optimistic view of the future with this key growing 
product range.

Our on-track growth continues 
We believe that there will also be above average 
growth rates for the Hügli Group’s Brand Solu-
tions in the coming years. Both the market for 
organic foods and also Health & Nutrition prod-
ucts will continue to grow faster than the overall 
market. Our high level of competence as a service 
provider and our ability to offer this to our cus-
tomers in line with their specific level of require-
ments, coupled with our excellent culinary exper-
tise in the Hügli Group and in particular in our 
Food Service division, means that we continue to 
see ourselves as being a provider with first-class 
competitive advantages for customers in Sales 
and Marketing companies.

Endrik Dallmann 
Head of Brand Solutions 
and Food Industry/ 
Member of the Group 
 Executive Management
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Share of sales 2014
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 Brand Solutions 56.1
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CUSTOMERS IN THE FOOD INDUSTRY DIVISION ARE GLOBAL GROUPS IN THE 
FOODSTUFFS INDUSTRY AS WELL AS SMALL AND MEDIUMSIZED MANUFACTUR
ERS IN OUR INDUSTRIES. THEY BUY CUSTOMISED SERVICES FROM HÜGLI IN THE 
FORM OF CONSUMER PACKS USING THEIR BRANDS FOR THE RETAIL SEGMENT IN 
THE PRODUCT CATEGORIES SOUPS, SAUCES, BOUILLONS, CONVENIENCE FOODS, 
DESSERTS, DRESSINGS, TOMATO SAUCES AND HEALTH & NUTRITION. IN ADDITION 
WE SUPPLY OUR CUSTOMERS WITH TOPQUALITY FLAVORINGS FOR FURTHER PRO
CESSING (INGREDIENTS) AND WE ARE A RELIABLE PARTNER FOR OUTSOURCED 
MIXING SERVICES.

Suceeding in turning around
Food Industry division closes 2014 higher than the 
previous year and budget. This division has suc-
ceeded in turning around after two negative years 
with +0.7 % revenue growth. 

Successful growth in the Consumer 
Packs segement
During the past fiscal year 2014 we have been able 
to ensure successful growth with numerous 
brands for the food industry as a result of re-
launches, recipe improvements and innovative 
concepts in the Consumer Packs Food segment. 
In the Consumer Packs Health & Nutrition seg-
ment 2014 was very positive – growth with exist-
ing customers was supplemented by key new 
customers.

Demanding markets for Ingredients
The continued demanding yet successful expan-
sion of the Snack Seasonings segment, a strategic 
segment for the Ingredients product group, was 
faced with a continued difficult situation on the 

market in our Compounds segment. Marketing 
newly developed flavoring components for the 
downstream processing industry, which works 
without additives and undesired ingredients, of-
fers major support for this area and has allowed us 
to reach the previous year’s revenues once again.

Still opportunities for growth
We believe that there are continued opportunities 
for Hügli in the coming years. There continues to 
be potential for all of the division’s areas. For Con-
sumer Packs, over the next few years Hügli will 
further expand its excellent position on the mar-
ket as a highly competitive provider, and we hare 
a highly demanded provider for ingredients as a 
result of our culinary and functional competence. 
However, for customers in the food industry an 
uncompromising orientation of the supplier to 
very high quality requirements, which meet all of 
the requisite standards, is a factor which is just as 
decisive as the perfectly developed product. Hüg-
li Food Industry is also the first choice for our cus-
tomers from this perspective.

Endrik Dallmann 
Head of Brand Solutions 
and Food Industry/ 
Member of the Group 
 Executive Management
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Share of sales 2014
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THE DIVISION CONSUMER BRANDS EXCLUSIVELY SELLS HÜGLI’S OWN BRANDS  
IN ENDCONSUMER CONTAINERS VIA VARIOUS SALES CHANNELS IN EUROPE, 
 FOCUSING ON GERMANY. WE USE THE HEIRLER, CENOVIS, ERNTESEGEN AND 
 NATUR COMPAGNIE BRANDS, MOSTLY TO SERVE THE SPECIALIST TRADE AND ALSO 
INCREASINGLY THE GROCERY RETAIL SECTOR. THE TELLOFIX AND OSCHO BRANDS 
ARE PRIMARILY SOLD VIA MERCHANTS SPECIALISING IN DIRECT SALES, AND ALSO 
VIA MAIL ORDER.

Success via new sales channels
Germany’s specialist stores comprise natural  
food stores and organic food stores. These two 
types of businesses have been growing apart over 
the past few years. Natural food stores are con-
tinuing to loose market share, with organic food 
stores regularly recording above average growth 
rates. Traditional food retailing has been enjoying  
stable growth for several years and is increa- 
singly dealing with the issue of healthy, sustaina-
ble nutrition. We took this market development 
into account by opening up the Heirler and 
 Cenovis brands, which were originally reserved for 
natural food stores, for sale in organic food  
stores and, more recently, also the retail segment. 
Our business with specialist re-sellers with a 
strong focus on the rural, southern German region 
and the Tellofix brand with a key focus on bouil-
lons in cans, has been successful and stable for 
years.

Strong position for own brands/Excel-
lent growth for select branded trading 
goods
In Hügli’s core product range of soups, sauces and 
bouillons, this division, with its Cenovis, Erntese-
gen and Natur Compagnie brands, leads the mar-
ket in specialist trade, and its sales growth paral-
lels the total market. Products from organic 
agriculture and products that are free from un-

wanted ingredients were in particular demanded. 
In the fresh foods sector, mostly with the Heirler 
brand, our product range of meat-substitute prod-
ucts is becoming increasingly important, in par-
ticular in traditional grocery stores.

New products and paths
A key factor for this division’s growth in the com-
ing years will be how we can process new chan-
nels (grocery stores in Germany) in a focused, 
successful manner, and how we can work on new 
countries by building on what we have already 
established. Initial successes in Germany are al-
ready here to stay; in other European countries we 
need a differentiated brand and product strategy, 
focusing on the English and Romance-speaking 
countries.

Solidly positioned for the future
In 2014 the division recorded total organic reve-
nue growth of +2.8 % with a simultaneous strong 
consolidation of the range of products and arti-
cles. Developments in the export business in par-
ticular were highly positive  – requirements for 
healthy nutrition are also increasing in the rest of 
Europe. As a result of the positive growth in new 
sales channels already mentioned and also in in-
dividual product categories, it will also be possible 
to record further organic growth in the coming 
year. 

Matthias Grün 
Head of Consumer  
Brands/Member of  
the Group  Executive 
 Management
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HÜGLI SETS ITS COURSE FOR THE FUTURE: PIONEERING LINKS BETWEEN ALLERGEN 
MANAGEMENT AND STATEOFTHEART BLENDING TECHNOLOGY WILL BE 
 REALISED IN AN EXPANDED FACTORY AT THE GROUP’S LARGEST PRODUCTION  
SITE IN RADOLFZELL BY THE END OF 2016. A HIGH DEGREE OF AUTOMATION AND 
STATEOFTHEART LOGISTICS ARE A KEY COMPONENT OF THE DESIGN, AS ARE 
THE HIGHEST POSSIBLE QUALITY STANDARDS. OUR OWN HIGH REQUIREMENTS 
TO AVOID CROSSCONTAMINATION AND FOR EASE OF CLEANING ARE THE TOP 
PRIORITY IN THIS REGARD.

New blending plant in Germany
We have been planning a new blending plant with 
its own high-bay warehouse in Radolfzell for sev-
eral months. This project aims to combine the 
separate manufacture (blending and packaging) 
which had previously been in two plants in Rado-
lfzell, in a single location. The new production area 
is scheduled to go live in the autumn of 2016. 
Then we expect that the substantially higher lev-
el of automation and optimum logistics will result 
in substantial progress in productivity with the 
best possible equipment in terms of quality and 
hygiene. In addition to the fully automated high-
bay warehouse, which will initially offer 11’000 pal-
ette bays for raw materials and finished goods, a 
3-storey production building with approximately 

3’000 m² will be built. All of the raw materials are 
to be brought to their place of use automatically. 
We expect that this will slash costs by reducing 
transport paths and physically demanding man ual 
labor will no longer be required.

Upgrading in EAST
We are also setting up a new blending plant at our 
site in Zasmuky, which delivers Central and East-
ern Europe and also increasingly supplies Western 
Europe. A few years ago we already included the 
optimum place for an expanded blending plant in 
the plant layout as part of the master plan for this 
location. Now two state of the art machines will 
be installed in a new, larger building in order to 
efficiently produce the substantially greater quan-
tities. This thus creates optimum production con-
ditions, capacity for additional growth and also 
the highest currently possible quality levels for 
producing dehydrated products. Our investments 
in the “heart and soul” of Hügli’s production are 
setting new standards and reinforcing our posi-
tion among European manufacturers of powder 
products for the food sector.

Stateoftheart blending technology

Dirk Balzer 
Head of Manufactur-
ing/Member of the 
Group Executive 
 Management
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SEGMENT GERMANY

The Germany segment comprises the group’s largest production location in Radolfzell with Plants 1 
and 2, the production location in Neuburg an der  Kammel and the sales facility in Hameln. 
 >> See page 59/Segment Reporting

Business Development Germany

  2014 2013 Variance

Unit in %

Sales m. CHF 229.0 216.0 6.0

EBIT m. CHF 20.5 21.5 –4.3

EBIT margin % 9.0 9.9  

Number of employees (full-time positions) FTE 726 696 4.3

Investments m. CHF 10.0 14.8 –32.2

Development of sales/ 
organic growth 2010–2014 

EBIT/EBIT margin 
2010–2014 

in million CHF/in % 

(   Development of sales/—organic growth)
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Radolfzell produces products for all five divisions. The focus is on large-series production of soups, 
sauces and convenience foods in small packages. This requires highly efficient and automated produc-
tion, accomplished with similarly qualified staff and ultra-modern factory equipment. The facility in 
Neuburg an der Kammel specializes in filling cans.

High additional production tonnages
Fiscal year 2014 was characterised by the creation of high additional production tonnages. A key com-
petitor left the market in Germany, which led to us taking over orders of a significant size, which we 
had to integrate into our organisational processes. The Germany segment was able to record pleasing 
revenue growth of +7.3 %, which is higher than the market level. However, operating earnings fell 

Business development of the Segments
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slightly from CHF 21.5 million to CHF 20.5 million. In addition to slightly higher production costs due 
to factors including wage increases from collective agreements, this is due in particular to changes in 
the composition of the products sold. The EBIT margin for the the geographic Germany segment con-
tinues to be good at 9.0 %. The quantities additionally produced meant that 30 new full-time positions 
of staff were added, taking the number of employees to 726. 

Major project planned
The investments made during the fiscal year in the amount of CHF 10.0 million mostly related to re-
placement investments for the existing fleet of machines and advance payments for the major project 
planned in Radolfzell in 2015/2016 for a new blending factory with a connected high-bay warehouse 
at the site of the current Plant 2. In total, the capital expenditure forecast in 2015 is a new record- 
breaking figure for Hügli Germany.

SEGMENT SWITZERLAND/REST OF WESTERN EUROPE

The Switzerland/Rest of Western Europe segment groups together the four countries of Switzerland, 
Austria, Italy and the UK.  >> See page 59/Segment Reporting

Business Development Switzerland/Rest of Western Europe

  2014 2013 Variance

Unit in %

Sales m. CHF 117.9 119.3 –1.2

EBIT m. CHF 10.4 7.0 48.0

EBIT margin % 8.8 5.9  

Number of employees (full-time positions) FTE 401 382 5.0 

Investments m. CHF 5.2 6.6 –21.4
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Development of sales/ 
organic growth 2010–2014 

EBIT/EBIT margin 
2010–2014 

in million CHF/in %  
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Switzerland production site
The production site in Steinach (Switzerland) has specialised in both small and medium-series pro-
duction and in the production of “customised” mixed dried-food products. In addition to dried foods, 
there is state-of-the-art liquid production in St. Gallen for salad dressings and dip sauces. The tonnage 
produced arose last year, and was increased once again in 2014. The reinforced key account business 
and also the higher demand for organic products by other group companies led to this  increased out-
put. The investment volume at the Swiss site was  substantially higher in 2014 than in 2013. In addition 
to investments in further optimising workflows, for example for IT, a high-performance mixing line 
was taken into operation in Steinach for producing pastes. At the site in St. Gallen investments were 
made in a method which allows the production of mellow aseptic dressings. The efficient production 
and excellent capacity uptake, coupled with consistent cost management meant that the facility in 
Switzerland increased its staff by 5 % and maintained its excellent profitability. Switzerland has been 
making a substantial contribution to Hügli’s positive results for years, and enjoys an excellent position 
despite challenging costs and exchange rates.

Italy production site
Our facility in Northern Italy produces and sells Italian specialties such as grilled vegetables, artichokes 
and mushrooms in oil, which are sold in all countries, mostly in our Food Service division, and also 
mostly tomato-based liquid pasta sauces in jars, which in turn are mostly sold in the Private Label and 
Brand Solutions divisions. Last year we launched an extensive outsourcing program for the production 
of certain products, supported by corresponding major staff cuts has brought about the anticipated 
effect. This facility has excellently mastered the transition in its operations and recorded a significant 
improvement in its profitability. This location has once again made investments primarily for quality 
management and quality assurance. The highly efficient, fully-automated filling line, together with 
culinary competence, offer the best conditions to further reinforce the position on the market in this 
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product segment. We were once again able to increase our sales figures and customer contacts, which 
allows us to take a positive view of 2015.

United Kingdom production site
Our production site in Redditch specialises in the manufacturing of mixed dried-food products in the 
area of ‘health and nutrition’, namely for balanced nutrition, sports nutrition and weight management. 
We cover a broad range of production-related services, making the site a proven and approved partner 
for the foodstuffs industry. Portfolio adjustments in the Private Label segment mean that revenues in 
Redditch were lower in 2014, however it was able to improve its profitability but did not reach our 
benchmark level. Investments were made in a packing line for filling small packages to further increase 
throughput speeds. This increases capacity and also opens up opportunities for further investments 
in automation. In addition, research and development at the UK location was linked to other develop-
ment locations using software. This has enabled a pan-location, structured product development 
process and the traceability and control of our technical development activities.

SEGMENT EASTERN EUROPE

In Eastern Europe, Hügli East caters for the Food Service and Private Label markets in the Czech Repub-
lic, Poland, Slovakia and Hungary. Production in Eastern Europe is performed at the Czech facility in 
Zasmuky, which supplies the group’s three own sales subsidiaries and increasingly also export markets. 
 >> See page 59/Segment Reporting

Business Development Eastern Europe

  2014 2013 Variance

Unit in %

Sales m. CHF 30.1 32.0 –5.8

EBIT m. CHF 1.4 0.8 65.5

EBIT margin % 4.6 2.6  

Number of employees (full-time positions) FTE 251 243 3.3

Investments m. CHF 1.1 0.5 130.7
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Development of sales/ 
organic growth 2010–2014 

EBIT/EBIT margin 
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Improved use of advantages in cost efficiency
In turn, reductions in revenues to third parties had to be accepted in the Eastern Europe segment. The 
sales division Food Service has enjoyed positive growth in all countries, Private Label has once again 
recorded a downturn in revenues, which means a downturn of –0.8 % for this segment in local curren-
cies. Zasmuky is increasingly proving to be a cost-efficient production location. It is now possible to 
make optimum use of the simplified, efficiently designed structures put in place in the past few years 
which increased the produced tonnage by more than 10 %. As a result, EBIT for the entire segment was 
up from CHF 0.8 million in the previous year to CHF 1.4 million. The EBIT margin improved from 2.6 % 
in the previous year to 4.6 % in the current year. The number of full-time employees increased slightly 
year-on-year to 251.
The facility was able to record excellent progress for productivity and efficiency, and in future it will 
play a more important role in large series production. Further capacity expansion is planned in 2015, 
linked with an increase to a production hall.
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HÜGLI ATTACHES GREAT VALUE TO MAINTAINING A GOOD AND RESPONSIBLE 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE. THE GROUP ACKNOWLEDGES ITS ECONOMIC AND 
 SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY. HIGH TRANSPARENCY CONTRIBUTES TO STRENGTHENING 
THE STAKEHOLDERS’ – SHAREHOLDERS, INVESTORS, STAFF AND BUSINESS 
 PARTNERS – TRUST IN THE COMPANY AND ITS MANAGEMENT. OUR CORPORATE 
 GOVERNANCE RESTS ON CLEARLY LAID OUT STRUCTURES, PRECISELY ALLOCATED 
AREAS OF RESPONSIBILITY, EFFICIENT DECISION PROCESSES AND APPROPRIATE 
CONTROL ROUTINES.

The following report is in line with the Corporate Governance Directive of SIX Swiss Exchange. If not 
mentioned differently, the information reflects the situation on 31 December 2014.
The Compensation Report can be found in a separate chapter on pages 38 to 43. 

Having come into force on 1 January 2014, the “Ordinance Against Excessive Compensation in Listed 
Stock Companies” (OaEC) entails several amendments to statutory requirements. At the ordinary  
Annual General Meeting 2014, all already elected members of the Board of Directors had to be elected 
for one year as was the Chairman, irrespective of the hitherto observed election cycle. All members of 
the Compensation Committee were elected also for one year. The Annual General Meeting 2014 has 
elected an independent proxy. The ordinary Annual General Meeting 2015 is to be presented with a 
proposal of extensive amendments to the Articles of Incorporation that result in the compensation 
ordinance being included into the Articles of Incorporation.

1. GROUP STRUCTURE AND SHAREHOLDERS

Group Structure
The Hügli Group consists of one single business unit with a uniform strategy defined by the Board of 
Directors that focuses on the development, production and distribution of Hügli’s core product line 
(soups, sauces, bouillons and further dry blended products). The management of all Group subsidiaries 
is centralised and performed by the Board of Directors and the CEO based on the designated Group 
strategy. Group Executive Management chaired by the CEO makes all relevant decisions. The segmen-
tation is based on the geographic responsibilities relating to production sites and their associated 
distribution companies. The country segment Germany covers all associated German companies, the 
country segment Switzerland/Rest of Western Europe includes the companies in Switzerland, Austria, 
United Kingdom and Italy, and the country segment Eastern Europe comprises the companies in Czech 
Republic, Slovakia, Poland and Hungary. >> See page 92/Group companies

In addition, cross-national sales organisations/divisions were created, reflecting the customer segments 
of the Hügli Group. These sales divisions mainly focus on customer needs and are responsible for a 
dynamic sales development as well as the optimal organisation of the area of marketing and sales. 
With regard to this area, the Hügli Group has adopted a matrix organisation. The Food Service Division 
covers the “Out of Home Market” with sales to hotels, restaurants, institutions such as corporate 
canteens, hospitals, residential homes and other caterers. The Private Label Division LEH supplies big 

Corporate Governance
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European retail trade organisations, primarily discounters and consumer markets, with products sold 
under their own labels. The Brand Solutions Division produces for customers with own marketing and 
sales organisations consumer packages under their own brands. The Food Industry Division specialises 
in the sale of semi-finished and finished products to the European food industry. The Consumer Brands 
Division sells Hügli’s own brands, predominately in organic quality, to health food stores, natural food 
as well a to the food retail trade. 
The only listed company in the scope of consolidation is Hügli Holding AG, 9323 Steinach, Switzerland. 
Its bearer shares are listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange in Zurich (security no. 464795). On 31 December 
2014, the closing price for the Hügli bearer share was CHF 723.50, corresponding to a market capitali-
sation of CHF 351 million. Of this total, CHF 203 million are represented by the stock capitalisation of 
the listed bearer shares and CHF 148 million by unlisted registered shares.

Major Shareholders
••• Dr A. Stoffel Holding AG/Dr A. Stoffel, 9320 Arbon, Switzerland:  

39’924 bearer shares with a par value of CHF 1.00 each (14.2 % of bearer share capital)/ 
410’000 registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.50 each (100 % of the registered share capi-
tal)/65.2 % of the voting rights, equivalent to 50.5 % of the share capital

••• Hügli Holding AG, CH-9323 Steinach, Switzerland (own shares): 
4’048 bearer shares with a par value of CHF 1.00 each (1.4 % of bearer share capital)/0.6 % of 
 voting rights, equivalent to 0.8 % of the share capital

••• Free Float: 
236’028 bearer shares with a par value of CHF 1.00 each (84.3 % of bearer share capital)/34.2 % of 
voting rights, equivalent to 48.7 % of the share capital

Cross-Shareholdings
There are no cross-shareholdings.

2. SHARE CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The share capital is divided into: 

Share capital 2014

in CHF

280’000 bearer shares with a par value of CHF 1.00 each (listed) 280’000

410’000 registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.50 each (not listed) 205’000

Total share capital 485’000

Each share grants one vote at the General Meeting of shareholders. The dividend entitlement of all the 
registered and bearer shares is calculated in proportion to their par value. There is no conditional or 
approved capital and there are no certificates of profit participation or of dividend rights.
There are no limitations on transferability and no special provisions relating to nominee entries. 
There are no convertible loans and no options on shareholding rights outstanding at present.
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Development of shareholders’ equity of Hügli Holding AG in the last three financial years:

  Change 31. 12. 2014 31. 12. 2013 31. 12. 2012
in CHF in %

Share capital 0 485’000 485’000 485’000

Reserves 8.3 123’161’187 113’672’907 97’709’356

Profit carried forward 34.1 37’061’619 27’634’838 31’346’016 

Total equity 13.3 160’707’806 141’792’745 129’540’372
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3. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Members of the Board of Directors

Dr Jean Gérard Villot
born 1952, a French national, Chairman of the 
Board of Directors since 2011. He was elected to 
the Board of Directors of Hügli Holding AG at the 
General Meeting in May 2002. From 2003 until 
2010, he was Vice President of the Board as well 
as CEO and Chairman of the Group Executive 
Management. Apart from his function as Chair-
man of the Board of Directors, Jean Villot is re-
sponsible for the coordination of investments 
within the Hügli Group as well as for acquisitions. 
He completed a doctorate at the University of 
Strasbourg and after holding various positions in 
the industry, he worked as a management con-
sultant, most recently as director of corporate 
consulting and member of executive manage-
ment of Prognos AG, Basel. He joined Hügli in 1990 
and was in charge of Hügli Switzerland until 1996, 
after which he was responsible for Hügli Germany 
until the end of 2002.

Dr Ida Hardegger
born 1957, a Swiss national, member of the Board 
of Directors for Hügli Holding AG since 2012. After 
acquiring the teaching diploma and studying at 
the University of St. Gallen, she worked as a per-
sonal assistant for former Federal Councillor Dr. 
Kurt Furgler. Subsequently she became General 
Legal Counsel of NUEVA Group before joining the 
Executive Management of both Denner AG and 
Denner Group and assuming the position of Head 
of Marketing. After taking on responsibility for 
several projects abroad, she was appointed CEO 
of Orell Füssli Book Publishing Group, worked in 
the Group management of OF Holding and in the 
Executive Management of Valora Group. She has 
been self-employed since 2006. She has graduat-
ed from the Law School at the University of 
St. Gallen (Ph. D. in Law), is a lawyer and has at-
tended courses of further education at, among 
other institutions, INSEAD at Fontainebleau and 
at Columbia University. She is a member of the 

Board of Directors of Möbel Pfister Group, Suhr, 
Alfred Müller Group, Baar, as well as other not list-
ed companies (SME) in Switzerland.

Fritz Höchner
born 1941, a Swiss national, member of the Board 
of Directors of Hügli Holding AG since 1991. He 
completed his education with a commercial diplo-
ma from the Cantonal School of Trogen. After a 
number of internships, he took over the adminis-
trative management of a large farm in Argentina 
in 1961. From 1964, Fritz Höchner worked in the 
textile industry. In 1968, he moved to the banking 
sector, became an authorised signatory of Amer-
ican Express Zurich and from 1971 to 2001 was 
responsible for all the Spanish-speaking countries 
in the Private Banking Division of Credit Suisse 
Zurich.

Dr Christoph Lechner
born 1967, a German and Swiss national, member 
of the Board of Directors of Hügli Holding AG since 
2001. After his degree in national economy (USA) 
and business administration (Germany), he re-
ceived his doctorate and professorship in econom-
ics at the University of St. Gallen. Between 1987 
and 1995, he worked in various functions for 
Deutsche Bank Group. He was Guest professor at 
the University of Connecticut (USA) in 2002/2003 
and the Wharton School at the University of Penn-
sylvania. Since 2004, he has been a professor for 
Strategic Management at the University of St. Gal-
len as well as Chairman of the Directorate of its 
Institute of Business Administration (IfB). He is a 
member of the Board of Directors of Helvetia 
Holding AG.

Dr Ernst Lienhard
born 1946, a Swiss national, member of the Board 
of Directors for Hügli Holding AG since 2001. He 
completed his studies at the University of St. Gal-
len in 1976 with a doctorate in economics. Ernst 
Lienhard joined Credit Suisse Zurich in 1972. After 
serving abroad in Paris, Peru, New York and the 
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Bahamas, he was appointed head of commerce in 
Zurich and became Managing Director Swiss Cor-
porates in 1997. Ernst Lienhard retired in 2004. He 
is a member of the Board of Directors of Dätwyler 
Holding AG as well as of other Swiss family-owned 
companies.

Dr Alexander Stoffel
born 1928, a Swiss national. Mr  Stoffel retired as 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Hügli Hold-
ing AG on 31 December 2010. He had held this 
position since 1966. Since January 2011, he has 
been a full member of the Board of Directors.  
He graduated from the University of St. Gallen 
in  1956 with a doctorate in economics. In the 

same year, he took over the management of  Hügli 
Nährmittel AG, a family business with sales then 
totalling around CHF 1 million. In the course of the 
rapid expansion of Hügli, Alexander Stoffel suc-
cessively held practically all the management 
functions, except for technical plant manage-
ment, at Hügli Switzerland and in the subsidiary 
companies subsequently formed in Austria and 
Germany. Hügli Holding  AG was established 
in 1966, at which time Alexander Stoffel became 
its chairman. On 31. 12. 2002, he retired as Chair-
man of the Group Executive Management.

All members of the Board of Directors, with the 
exception of Jean Gérard Villot, are non-executive.

Dr Jean Gérard Villot

Dr Christoph Lechner

Dr Ida Hardegger

Dr Ernst Lienhard

Fritz Höchner

Dr Alexander Stoffel

Hügli Annual Report 2014 ••• Corporate Governance 31

GB_2014_EN_02_Image   31 31.03.15   11:39



Material Interests
Ernst Lienhard was a member of the executive management of a bank providing important services 
to Hügli (Credit Suisse) until 2004. Christoph Lechner advises Hügli on strategic matters relating to 
special projects (for the last time 2005). The other non-executive members have no significant business 
relations with the Hügli Group. 
Alexander Stoffel is the majority shareholder of Hügli Holding AG through his family holding company, 
Dr. A. Stoffel Holding AG. Jean Villot is vice president of the board of Dr. A. Stoffel Holding AG. 
 >> see page 28/Major Shareholders

Election and Term of Office
With the “Ordinance Against Excessive Compensation in Listed Stock Companies” (OaEC), new legal 
norms have come into force on 1 January 2014 that limit the term of office to a duration of one year. 
The Articles of Incorporation had hitherto defined the term of office to last three years. The term of 
office has thus ended for all Board members with the Annual General Meeting 2014, including those 
that had been elected by the previous two General Meetings for a longer term. A re-election for the 
time until the next ordinary Annual General Meeting is possible for each individual member. Since 
2014, the Special Council of holders of bearer shares annually elects its representative in the Board of 
Directors, in line with article 709 CO (Swiss Code of Obligations). There is not limitation on the term of 
office.
When selecting new members, the Board of Directors thrives for a balanced consideration of expertise, 
competencies and entrepreneurial experience, all of which are necessary for the top leadership and 
supervision of the executive management of an international food corporation. 

Internal Organisation
In accordance with the new regulation (OaEC), the Annual General Meeting 2014 has for the first time 
elected the Chairman of the Board of Directors as well as the members of the Compensation Commit-
tee, comprises the entire Board of Directors, separately. Furthermore, the Board of Directors has con-
stituted itself. The Chairman, Jean Villot, is responsible for preparing the meetings of the Board of 
Directors and for coordinating its work. He is primarily concerned with strategic issues, long-term in-
vestment planning and the evaluation of acquisitions. He works closely with the Chairman of the Group 
Executive Management (CEO), whom he supervises directly. Christoph Lechner evaluates the planned 
and implemented measures from a strategic perspective and against the background of scientific 
findings. Alexander Stoffel and Jean Villot are contributing their extensive experience and expertise 
gained throughout their professional activities in the food industry. Ida Hardegger evaluates legal issues 
and contributes her expertise on the food industry and retail trade. Fritz Höchner and Ernst Lienhard 
are the financial experts on the Board of Directors. They assess measures in consideration of the finan-
cial risk management.
The Board of Directors has decided not to set up any board committees for the time being. Because of 
its small size, the Board performs the necessary tasks under the joint responsibility of all its members. 
In the event of possible conflicts of interest (e. g. establishment of compensation), the members con-
cerned withdraw from the meeting. 
The Board of Directors meets according to business requirements, normally five to six times a year for 
an entire day. Each member may ask the Chairman to call an immediate meeting, stating the reasons 
for his request. In the reporting year, the Board of Directors held five meetings as well as a three-day 
management meeting with the Group’s executive staff. 
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Division of Powers
The division of responsibilities between the Board of Directors and Group Executive Management are 
defined in the organisational regulations of those bodies. The main points are as follows: The Board 
has delegated the coordination of the Board and the Group Executive Management to its Chairman 
Jean Villot. The operative Executive Management of the Group is the responsibility of CEO Thomas 
Bodenmann. 
In addition to the seven tasks, which are reserved exclusively for the Board of Directors by article 716a 
CO (Swiss Code of Obligations), and partly for the performance of those tasks, the Board has reserved 
the following powers for itself:

••• approval of the overall Group strategy and divisional strategies
••• approval of the budgets according to the rolling three-year plan, and verification of compliance 

with the budget figures 
••• approval of all acquisitions and sales of companies, together with the cessation of existing 

 business areas and the entry into new areas
••• the implementation of a risk assessment, which includes the operability of the internal control 

system
••• appointment and dismissal of members of the Group Executive Management and establishment 

of their compensation
••• As it bears ultimate responsibility for the company, the Board of Directors may operate in all  

business areas of the company if it regards that as necessary for the proper performance  
of its tasks. However, it takes care not to intervene in areas of delegated, operational responsi-
bility if there is no necessity.

Information and Controlling Instruments
The internal Management Information System (MIS) prepared for the Board of Directors includes the 
consolidated income and balance sheet figures of the Group and the country segments as well as 
commentaries thereto. Furthermore, a Group contribution margin statement of the sales divisions, 
broken down by customer segments, is prepared. A written copy of the MIS is provided to each Board 
member. The monthly reporting contains sales figures and gross margins of the international subsid-
iaries and the sales divisions including variance analyses regarding the previous year and budget as 
well as commentaries on the current course of business. A widespread overview of the Hügli Group 
and the geographical segments (income statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, 
cash flow statement) as well as a consolidated division reporting of the cross-national sales organisa-
tions and customer segment based subunits are prepared quarterly with a focus on Group contribution 
margins of sales and marketing. This reporting contains variance analyses regarding the previous year 
and budget. Moreover, the Board receives forecasts of the expected yearly figures. Once a year, a three-
year rolling strategic plan is realised.
At the meetings of the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Group Executive Management presents 
and comments on the course of business and important topics. Depending on the agenda item (budget, 
yearly financial statements, projects) the other members of the Group Executive Management also 
present information on specific topics.
The Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Chairman of the Group Executive Management inform 
and consult each other regularly on all important business matters. The Chairman consults with coun-
try and division management, and visits corporate subsidiaries to see for himself how their operations 
are run and how they are implementing the Group strategy. The entire Board attends the annual three-
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day management meeting of the Group’s executive staff and obtains direct and detailed information 
about current strategic and operating projects, and achieved goals. 
The external auditors provide the Board with audit reports and management letters of the Group as 
well as those of important Group subsidiaries. Aside from the Hügli Holding AG auditor, external 
 auditors are once a year commissioned to give a presentation in a Board meeting and participate in a 
consultation with the Board of Directors. Further, specific internal audit reports on behalf of the Board 
are included in the internal audit.
The Board of Directors and the Group Executive Management attach considerable importance to 
careful handling of strategic, financial and operative risks. The controlling of risk management proce-
dures and the continuous updating of risk identification are carried out through periodic meetings with 
department heads and managers performing Group functions. Significant changes are subject to in-
depth analysis and assessed in compliance with the Group-wide risk management.

4. GROUP EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

The responsibilities, working method and delimi-
tation of powers from those of the Board of Di-
rectors are set out in the organisational regula-
tions of the Group Executive Management. The 
Group Executive Management is the senior oper-
ational management body of the Hügli Group. It 
reports to the Board of Directors, and it consists 
of seven members. No member has any other im-
portant engagements in other organisations or 
material commitments. Hügli Holding AG and its 
subsidiary companies have not concluded any 
management agreements with third parties.

Members of the Group Executive 
 Management

Thomas Bodenmann
born 1962, a Swiss national, has been the Chair-
man of Group Executive Management (CEO) since 
2011. He had been elected to the Group Executive 
Management in 2001, at which time he was Head 
of the Food Service Division. He graduated from 
the Department of Business Administration at 
St Gallen University of Applied Sciences with a 
degree in business administration and completed 
various courses of further education at the Uni-
versity of St.  Gallen and at Harvard Business 
School in Boston, USA. After having worked in a 
number of positions in the industry, he became 

the manager for Sales Switzerland at Benckiser 
(Schweiz) AG in Winterthur, holding the position 
until 1995. Bodenmann joined Hügli Switzerland 
in 1995 as export manager and member of the 
Executive Management of Hügli Switzerland. 
From 1997 to 2010 he was the Managing Director 
of Hügli Switzerland and from 1999 to 2010 also 
of Hügli Austria. Bodenmann is a member of the 
Board of Directors of Bataillard AG, Rothenburg.

Dirk Balzer
born 1970, a German national, as Head of Manu-
facturing he has been a member of the Group 
Executive Management since 2011. He graduated 
as food engineer from the University of Stutt-
gart-Hohenheim, Germany, and began his profes-
sional career in the field of process engineering at 
Nestlé Germany  AG. After having held various 
further positions in the area of productions at 
Maggi GmbH, Dirk Balzer joined the Hügli Group 
and has since 2001 been heading production at 
Hügli’s biggest site in Radolfzell. Aside from this 
function, Dirk Balzer took on responsibility for the 
coordination of production sites of the Group 
in 2008.

Endrik Dallmann
born 1968, a German national, has been a mem-
ber of the Group Executive Management and 
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Head of the Key-Account Divisions Brand Solu-
tions and Food Industry since 1  July 2011. The 
graduate in business administration (VWA) stud-
ied law and economics at the universities of Köln 
and Konstanz (without graduating). He joined 
Hügli Radolfzell in 1994 and managed various op-
erating projects. From 2005, he was Managing 
Director of the German Hügli subsidiaries In-
ter-Planing GmbH and Oscho GmbH. Mr Dallmann 
is Managing Director of Hügli Germany since 
2014.

Matthias Grün
born 1963, a German national, has been a mem-
ber of the Group Executive Management since 
2013. Since 1. 1. 2014 he is Head of the Consumer 
Brands Division. Grün has a degree as Agricultural 
Engineer (Dipl. Ing. agr.) as well as an M. B. A. Sub-
sequent to his studies, he worked seven years for 
Kraft Foods in Germany and Argentina. After hav-
ing acquired marketing and sales expertise out-
side of the food industry, he was General Manag-
er of Importhaus Wilms (Germany) with a main 
responsibility for the company’s strategic reorien-
tation. From 2010 to mid-2013, Matthias Grün 
worked as an independent consultant, his spe-
cialties were brand and sales strategy as well as 
interim executive management, among others in 
the sector of natural foods.

Manfred Jablowski
born 1964, a German national, has been a mem-
ber of the Group Executive Management and 
Head of the Food Service Division since 1  July 
2011. After having graduated as an engineer in 
food technology, he held various management 
positions in sales in the course of 20 years. He 

gathered comprehensive experience in the area 
of Food Service at ETO/Dr Oetker, where he 
worked as Head of Key Accounts from 2001. In 
2006, he became responsible for  Hügli’s largest 
Food Service country organisation in Germany.

Jörg Meyer
born 1963, a German national, has been a mem-
ber of Group Executive Management and Head of 
the Private Label Division since November 2012. 
After acquiring a degree in economics from the 
Bochum University of Applied Sciences, he worked 
as Head of Marketing and as Head of Sales for 
different international food corporations in Ger-
many for more than 20 years. In his latest position, 
as Managing Director of a Danish food producing 
group, an important Private Label supplier of the 
European food retail trade, he carried full respon-
sibility for marketing and sales.

Andreas Seibold
born 1964, a Swiss national, became Chief Finan-
cial Officer and member of the Group Executive 
Management in 2004. After studying economics 
at the University of Zurich (lic. oec. publ.), he went 
on to qualify as a chartered accountant at the 
Swiss Institute of Certified Accountants, while 
maintaining his professional employment.  
Having worked for many years as an auditor with 
KPMG Zurich he moved to Sefar AG, Rüschlikon, 
as Head of Finance and Treasury and then to Sefar 
Holding AG as Head of Group Controlling. In addi-
tion to his function as CFO, he is responsible for 
Investor Relations. He is also a member of the 
technical commission Swiss GAAP FER, the foun-
dation for accounting and reporting recommen-
dations.

5. COMPENSATIONS, SHAREHOLDING INTERESTS AND LOANS

In compliance with the SIX Swiss Exchange Directive on Information relating to Corporate Governance 
and the Swiss Code of Obligations, Hügli discloses information on the compensation paid to the  
Board of Directors and Group Executive Management in a separate chapter “Compensation Report” 
on pages 38 to 43 of the annual report. >> see page 38/Compensation Report
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6. SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS OF PARTICIPATION

There are no limitations on voting rights. Each share grants one vote.
There are no statutory quorum requirements.
There are no rules deviating from statutory provisions in respect of the convening of the General 
Meeting. Bearer shareholders’ invitations are published in the Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce 
(SHAB). The registered shareholder is invited by letter at the address last provided to the Board of Di-
rectors. 
The statutory rules relating to the placing of items on the agenda are less strict than the law. Share-
holders representing shares with a par value of at least CHF 25’000 have the right to place an item on 
the agenda. The request listing the proposals is to be presented to the Board of Directors in writing 
and at least 60 days before the General Meeting of shareholders.

7. CHANGE OF CONTROL AND SAFEGUARDING MEASURES

Obligation of Purchase Offer
Under article 5 of the articles of incorporation, a bidder is only required to make a public purchase 
offer as specified in article 32 of BEHG (Swiss Federal law on stock exchanges and share trading), if he 
holds more than 49 % of the voting rights in the company (opting-up).

Change of Control Clauses
No such agreements exist with the members of the Board of Directors, the Group Executive Manage-
ment or other executive staff. The notice period for members of Group Executive Management rang-
es from six to twelve months. They are entitled to receive salary and  compensation based on earnings 
within this period.

8. STATUTORY AUDITORS

Duration of Mandate and Term of Office of the Auditor in Charge
OBT AG, St. Gallen, Switzerland is the statutory auditor for Hügli Holding AG. This firm was appointed 
for the first time in 1962 as the statutory auditing company to Hügli Nährmittel AG and then as au-
diting company to Hügli  Holding AG following its incorporation in 1966. The audit mandate runs for 
one year with the possibility of reappointment under article 19 of the articles of incorporation. The 
auditor in charge, Stefan Traber, has held his position since the financial year 2014.

Audit Fees
In 2014, OBT AG, St. Gallen, invoiced the sum of TCHF 105 to Hügli Holding AG and its Swiss subsidiary 
companies for services provided in connection with the audit of the annual statement of accounts and 
consolidated accounts.
No additional fees were paid to OBT AG or to persons or companies affiliated to it.
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Information Instruments of External Audit
The Board of Directors examines the audit reports of Hügli Holding AG as well as the audit reports and 
the management letters of the main subsidiary companies. 
A workshop is held on the approval of the annual financial statements with the Group auditors and 
alternately with an auditor of a subsidiary company. At this meeting the reports and important issues 
of the management letters – including the internal control system – are discussed in detail, and addi-
tional issues regarding the focal points of audit are clarified.
The Board of Directors evaluates the performance of the external audit company on a regular basis 
and decides on the proposal to the General Meeting of Shareholders concerning the appointment of 
the external audit company.

9. INFORMATION POLICY

The Hügli Group cares for open and regular communication with shareholders, the capital market and 
the public. The CEO and the CFO are available as contacts for all issues concerning external communi-
cation.
Hügli informs twice a year about the course of business and the financial situation by issuing an an-
nual and a half-year report. Important businesses and events, which may have an impact on share price 
are published routinely (ad hoc publicity).

Key dates in 2015:

Sales report 29 January 2015

Media and analysts’ conference (Annual Report 2014, Sales Q1 2015) 15 April 2015

General meeting in Arbon 20 May 2015

ex-dividend date 22 May 2015

Dividend payment 27 May 2015

Half-Year Report 2015 19 August 2015

Further dates, reports and media releases can be found at www.huegli.com/en/investor- relations/
The company’s official publication is the Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce (SHAB).

Responsible Manager for Investor Relations: 
Andreas Seibold, CFO / Tel. +41 71 447 22 50 / andreas.seibold@huegli.com
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HÜGLI’S COMPENSATION POLICY IS BASED ON THE CONVICTION THAT THE COM
PANY’S SUCCESS DEPENDS ESSENTIALLY ON THE QUALITY AND THE COMMITMENT 
OF ALL EMPLOYEES. THE COMPENSATION SYSTEMS AND THE  SHAREHOLDING 
PLANS FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND GROUP EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT 
ARE LINKED TO ACHIEVING SUSTAINABLE PROFITS, AIMING TO SAFEGUARD THE 
COMPANY’S LONGTERM SUCCESS AND AT THE SAME TIME TO CREATE ADDED 
VALUE FOR SHAREHOLDERS.

Overview in brief
The compensation systems are defined by the full Board of Directors with a long-term focus and 
 reviewed annually. Their structure is clear, simple and comprehensible. The compensation systems for 
the Board of Directors and Group Executive Management are governed by the same principles. They 
are to provide a total compensation in line with the market and with performance, aiming to  
attract individuals with the necessary skills and character traits, and to retain them for the long  
term.
The non-executive members of the Board of Directors receive a fixed compensation; the Chairman 
receives an additional profit share. Each member can obtain company shares at a preferential price, 
which is 25 % below the market value, instead of the compensation. These shares are subject to a re-
tention period of 3 years and delivered subsequently. The Chairman’s profit share is calculated based 
on the organic increase of Group net profit above a threshold value defined by the Board of Directors. 
The total compensation paid to the entire Board of Directors (6 members) in 2014 grew by +9 % to 
TCHF 1’294 when compared to the previous year. The fixed compensation remained unchanged. Only 
the Chairman’s profit share and the calculation of the compensation value of shared-based payments 
have increased.
The members of Group Executive Management receive a fixed salary and a variable component of 
salary. For all members, this variable component of salary depends on the organic increase of Group 
net profit above a threshold value defined by the Board of Directors. The calculation of the variable 
component of salary for members of Group Executive Management with responsibility for an opera-
tional segment additionally depends on the organic increase of the supervised contribution margin. 
The members of Group Executive Management may also use a limited amount of the compensation 
to buy company shares at the same conditions as the Board of Directors (preferential price 25 % below 
market value, retention period of 3 years). The total compensation of the entire Group Executive Man-
agement (7 members) decreased in 2014 by –1 % to TCHF 3’529 when compared to the previous year. 
This was mainly due to the increase of the variable salary components as derived from a higher Group 
net profit as well as individual increases of the basic salary due to extensions of functions that were 
over-compensated, however, by the cessation of a double staffing in the previous year (8 members 
during the introduction period of a new member in the short term), reducing the compensations  overall.

Introduction
The present compensation report includes information about the compensation policy, the procedure 
for fixing compensations and the terms of the shareholding programmes. It is based on section 5 re-
ferring to “Compensations, shareholdings and loans” of the SIX Swiss Exchange Directive on Informa-
tion relating to Corporate Governance. Moreover, this report discloses the compensations recorded in 
2014 and 2013. The compensations and participations in line with article 663b bis and article 663c of 

Compensation Report

Hügli Annual Report 2014 ••• Compensation Report 38

GB_2014_EN_02_Image   38 31.03.15   11:39



the Swiss Code of Obligations presented in this report in the tables below are also listed in the Notes 
to the Financial Statements of Hügli Holding AG.

Compensation policy
The principles of the compensation policy for the members of the Board of Directors and Group Exe-
cutive Management are designed to provide simple and clearly structured salary systems that ensure 
fair remuneration and are transparent for the company’s employees. The salary is determined by the 
job specifications and competencies of the function (complexity of the task, responsibility, technical 
and personal requirements), the company’s business success and the measurable individual per-
formance of operational segments. The variable performance-related component is a supporting 
controlling instrument that aims to achieve the overarching goal of contributing to the company’s 
long-term success. The stock ownership programmes also include a direct financial par ticipation in the 
medium-term performance of the Hügli share and support the consolidation of interests.

Decision-making powers/Compensation Committee
The Board of Directors, due to its small size, decided not to set up a separate Compensation Commit-
tee and to perform the task under the joint responsibility of all its members. The Board of Directors 
defines the compensation systems for the members of the Board of Directors and Group Executive 
Management. The compensation system is defined with a long-term focus and reviewed annually. This 
review is commensurate with easily accessible information on companies of comparable size and to 
characteristics of the labour market. The compensation system of the Board of Directors was last 
adjusted in 2010, that of Group Executive Management in 2013.

Compensation of the Board of Directors
The compensations reflect the level of responsibility and scope of activities performed by each mem-
ber. The members are compensated from the time of their election until the next Annual General 
Meeting. The non-executive members receive a one-off compensation in December; the Chairman 
receives a monthly compensation.
The compensation system of the five non-executive members of the Board of Directors has provided 
a fixed basic compensation of net TCHF 60 since 2011. The individual social security contributions are 
paid entirely by the employer side. As there are no board committees, this compensation covers the 
whole scope of activities. The remuneration does not include a variable performance-related compo-
nent. Instead of the basic compensation, each member may obtain company shares according to the 
regulations on the optional share-based payment. The purchase price equals the average unweighted 
share price within the 12-month period 01. 11.– 31. 10., or the lower share price on the cut-off date 
31. 10. of the year, in which the transaction is performed. The purchase offer is valid during two weeks 
in November. If the purchase option is not exercised, it is forfeited and the basic compensation is paid 
out. The purchase price is 25 % below the market price. The shares remain in the custody of Hügli 
Holding AG during a retention period of 3 years and are subsequently transferred to the members. The 
resulting compensation value is calculated according to Circular 37 of the Swiss Federal Tax Adminis-
tration and represents a shared-based compensation.
As an executive member, the Chairman of the Board of Directors has a full time workload. Alongside 
a Chairman’s responsibilities (preparing the meetings of the Board of Directors, coordinating its tasks, 
working with the CEO), he takes on further functions in the company. The Board of Directors’ directives 
govern these additional functions, which comprise mainly strategic long-term investment planning 
and the evaluation of acquisitions. In addition to a fixed monthly compensation, the Chairman of the 
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Board of Directors receives a profit share. The profit share is derived from the increase of Group net 
profit above a threshold value defined by the Board of Directors. It is based on organic profit increase 
without acquisition and divestment effects. For such changes in the business areas, the Board of Di-
rectors defines a correctional factor on the profit level. This profit share has no ceiling. No profit share 
will apply if the lower threshold, determined by a minimum profit amount for the coverage of costs of 
equity, is not reached. Under normal conditions, the profit share should represent around 10 % to 40 % 
of the basic compensation. In the financial year, it equalled 27 %, in the previous year 24 %.
In addition, the Chairman of the Board of Directors can use up to twice the amount granted to non-ex-
ecutive members to buy shares as part of the above mentioned stock ownership programme. Furthermore, 
the full-time Chairman belongs to the corporate pension plan and is insured in the Swiss pensions fund 
with his wages covered by the AHV. The employer-savings premiums are covered in accordance with the 
general regulation that applies to all employees. The Chairman is also provided with a company car.
The following tables present the breakdown of components of the individual compensations paid to 
the members of the Board of Directors. In November 2014, 767 shares (previous year: 749) were trans-
ferred to Board members based on the regulation regarding optional share-based payments. The 
 purchase price totaled TCHF 349 (CHF 454.50 per share), in the previous year TCHF 292 (CHF 390.00 per 
share). The discounted value amounted to TCHF 460 (previous year: TCHF 327).
The private share of the company car was determined by tax values. Real travel expenses are not in-
cluded. Pension and social expenses include both the employer’s and the employees’ contributions.
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2014 Compensation net

Stock ownership plans
Company 

Car

Compen-
sation to 

Mgmt

Pension 
and social 
Insurance

Total 
2014 Fix Variable

in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000 Number in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000

Dr. Jean Gérard Villot, Chairman 518 140 259 38 8 704 179 883

Dr. Ida Hardegger 60 0 127 18 0 78 10 88

Fritz Höchner 60 0 127 18 0 78 7 85

Dr. Christoph Lechner 60 0 0 0 0 60 8 68

Dr. Ernst Lienhard 60 0 127 18 0 78 7 85

Dr. Alexander Stoffel 60 0 127 18 0 78 7 85

Total Board of Directors 818 140 767 110 8 1’076 218 1’294

2013 Compensation net

Stock ownership plans
Company 

Car

Compen-
sation to 

Mgmt

Pension 
and social 
Insurance

Total 
2013 Fix Variable

in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000 Number in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000

Dr. Jean Gérard Villot, Chairman 519 123 157 7 8 657 167 824

Dr. Ida Hardegger 60 0 148 7 0 67 9 76

Fritz Höchner 60 0 148 7 0 67 5 72

Dr. Christoph Lechner 60 0 0 0 0 60 8 68

Dr. Ernst Lienhard 60 0 148 7 0 67 5 72

Dr. Alexander Stoffel 60 0 148 7 0 67 5 72

Total Board of Directors 819 123 749 35 8 985 199 1’184
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Compensation to Group Executive Management
The compensation system for the members of Group Executive Management is defined by the full 
Board of Directors with a long-term focus and reviewed annually. The compensation includes a fixed 
basic salary, a variable component of salary, the option to participate in the stock ownership pro-
gramme, non-cash benefits (mostly company car) and corporate pension plan benefits. The fixed 
salary is determined mainly by task, responsibility and qualification. The variable component of salary 
depends on attainment of organic business success. It is measured by two financial objectives: Contri-
bution margin per supervised segment and Group net profit. Members of Group Executive Manage-
ment without responsibility for a segment are assessed on the basis of Group net profit only. The 
variable component of salary as derived from contribution margin per segment is calculated as a part 
of the increase or decrease of contribution margin recorded since a fixed date in the past. The profit 
share is derived from the increase of the Group net profit above a threshold value defined by the Board 
of Directors. It is based on the organic increase in contribution margin and profit, respectively, without 
acquisition and divestment effects. For such changes in the business areas, the Board of Directors 
defines a correctional factor. This profit share has no ceiling. No profit share will apply if the lower 
threshold, determined by a minimum profit amount for the coverage of costs of equity, is not reached. 
Under normal conditions, the variable component of salary should represent around 10 % to 40 % of 
the basic compensation. In the financial year, it ranged from 3 % to 25 %, depending on the individual 
member, in the previous year from 0 % to 21 %.

The members of Group Executive Management may use a limited amount of the compensation to buy 
company shares at the same conditions as the Board of Directors. The purchase price equals the aver-
age unweighted share price within the 12-month period 01. 01.– 31. 12., or the lower share price on the 
cut-off date 31. 12. of the previous year. The purchase offer is valid during two weeks. If it is not con-
summated, it becomes void. The purchase price is 25 % below the market price. The shares remain in 
the custody of Hügli Holding AG during a retention period of 3 years and are subsequently transferred 
to the members. The resulting compensation value is calculated according to Circular 37 of the Swiss 
Federal Tax Administration and represents a shared-based compensation. The Swiss members of Group 
Executive Management belong to the corporate pension fund with their wages covered by the AHV. 
The employer-savings premiums are covered in accordance with the general regulation that applies to 
all employees. There are no other special regulations relating to the pension fund. Moreover, every 
member of Group Executive Management is provided with a company car.

The following tables present the breakdown of components of the individual compensations paid to 
Group Executive Management, including the highest amount paid to a member. In April 2014, Group 
Executive Management purchased 718 shares (previous year: 895) based on the regulation pertaining 
to the stock ownership programme. The purchase price totaled TCHF 278 (CHF 387.40 per share), in the 
previous year TCHF 336 (CHF 375.00 per share). The discounted fair value amounted to TCHF 373 (pre-
vious year: TCHF 390). 
The private share of the company car was determined by tax values. Real travel expenses are not in-
cluded. The members of Group Executive Management are subject to the same expense regulations 
approved by the tax office as the other senior managers (expense regulations, additional regulations 
for lump-sum allowance). Pension and social expenses include both the employer’s and the employees’ 
contributions.
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2014 Compensation net

Stock ownership plans
Company 

Car

Compen-
sation to 

Mgmt

Pension 
and social 
Insurance

Total 
2014 Fix Variable

in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000 Number in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000

Total Group Executive 
 Management 2’530 341 718 95 52 3’018 511 3’529

thereof maximum  
total compensation:  
Thomas Bodenmann, CEO 559 140 258 34 8 741 180 921

2013 Compensation net

Stock ownership plans
Company 

Car

Compen-
sation to 

Mgmt

Pension 
and social 
Insurance

Total 
2013 Fix Variable

in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000 Number in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000 in CHF 1’000

Total Group Executive 
 Management 2’658 287 895 54 49 3’048 518 3’566

thereof maximum  
total compensation:  
Thomas Bodenmann, CEO 562 123 266 16 8 709 169 878

Further Compensation, Loans to Corporate Bodies and Change of Control Clauses
In 2014, no further compensation was paid to members of the Board of Directors, of Group Executive 
Management, or to persons close to them. No severance compensation was paid. In 2014, no loans or 
credits were granted to serving or former members of corporate bodies, or persons close to them. 
Furthermore, there are no such claims outstanding.
The ordinary notice period for members of Group Executive Management has a maximum duration 
of 12 months. Within this period, they are entitled to receive salary and compensation based on earn-
ings. The employment contracts do not include change of control clauses.
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Shareholdings of Members of the Board of Directors and Group Executive 
 Management
As per 31 December 2014 and 2013, the members of the Board of Directors and Group Executive 
Management owned following number of shares. The number includes both the shares in the custody 
of Hügli Holding AG that are subject to a retention period, and the unrestricted shares in individual 
ownership.

Number of bearer shares
Number of registered 

shares Voting rights

 2014 2013 2014  2013 2014 2013

in % in %

Dr. Jean Gérard Villot, Chairman 1’414 1’300   0.2 0.2

Dr. Ida Hardegger 722 777   0.1 0.1

Fritz Höchner 2’060 1’933   0.3 0.3

Dr. Christoph Lechner 111 111   <0.1 <0.1

Dr. Ernst Lienhard 669 542   0.1 0.1

Dr. Alexander Stoffel 39’924 39’797 410’000 410’000 65.2 65.2

Total Board of Directors 44’900 44’460 410’000 410’000 65.9 65.9

Thomas Bodenmann 850 1’000   0.1 0.1

Dirk Balzer 343 214   <0.1 <0.1

Endrik Dallmann 203 133   <0.1 <0.1

Matthias Grün 70 0   <0.1 0.0

Manfred Jablowski 0 0   0.0 0.0

Jörg Meyer 195 133   <0.1 <0.1

Alexander Moosmann (until 31. 12. 2013 )  728    0.1

Andreas Seibold 400 820   0.1 0.1

Total Group Executive Management 2’061 3’028   0.3 0.4
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Report of the statutory Auditor  
on Compensation report

We have audited the accompanying compensation report (pages 38–43) dated March 26, 2015 of Hügli Holding AG 
for the year ended December 31, 2014. 

Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and overall fair presentation of the compensation report 
in accordance with Swiss law and the Ordinance against Excessive compensation in Stock Exchange Listed Compa-
nies (Ordinance). The Board of Directors is also responsible for designing the compensation system and defining
individual compensation packages.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the accompanying compensation report. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the compensation report complies with 
Swiss law and articles 14–16 of the Ordinance.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence on the disclosures made in the compensation 
report with regard to compensation, loans and credits in accordance with articles 14–16 of the Ordinance. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditors judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstate-
ments in the compensation report, whether due to fraud or error. This audit also includes evaluating the reasona-
bleness of the methods applied to value components of compensation, as well as assessing the overall presentation 
of the compensation report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the compensation report for the year ended December 31, 2014 of Hügli Holding AG complies with 
Swiss law and articles 14–16 of the Ordinance.

St. Gallen, 26 March 2015
OBT AG

Stefan Traber
Licensed Audit Expert
Auditor in Charge

Willi Holdener
Licensed Audit Expert
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BEARER SHARES ARE TRADED AT THE SWISS STOCK EXCHANGE SINCE 1986, 
WHEREAS REGISTERED SHARES ARE NOT LISTED. THERE ARE NO RESTRICTIONS OF 
TRANSFERABILITY. EVERY STOCK ALLOWS ONE VOTE AT THE GENERAL ANNUAL 
MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS. THERE EXIST NO CONVERTIBLE BONDS OR OPTIONS 
TO OWNERSHIP RIGHTS.

Share capital structure
The share capital is divided into:

Share capital 2014

in CHF

280’000 bearer shares with a par value of CHF 1.00 each (listed) 280’000

410’000 registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.50 each (not listed) 205’000

Total share capital 485’000

Market capitalisation
On 31 December 2014, the closing price for the Hügli bearer share was CHF 723.50, corresponding to 
a market capitalisation of CHF 351 million. Of this total, CHF 203 million are represented by the stock 
capitalisation of the listed bearer shares and CHF 148 million by unlisted registered shares.

Listing  

ISIN CH0004647951

Security no. 464795

SIX symbol HUE

Information for Investors

Share price development 2013–2014

in CHF (—Hügli/—Vontobel Small Cap Index, adapted)

1.1.2013 31.12.2013 31.12.2014
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Major Shareholders/Free Float as per 31 December 2014
••• Dr A. Stoffel Holding AG/Dr A. Stoffel, 9320 Arbon, Switzerland:  

39’924 bearer shares with a par value of CHF 1.00 each (14.2 % of bearer share capi-
tal)/410’000 registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.50 each (100 % of the registered share 
capital)/65.2 % of the voting rights, equivalent to 50.5 % of the share capital

••• Hügli Holding AG, CH-9323 Steinach, Switzerland (own shares): 
4’048 bearer shares with a par value of CHF 1.00 each (1.4 % of bearer share capital)/0.6 % of  
voting rights, equivalent to 0.8 % of the share capital

••• Free Float: 
236’028 bearer shares with a par value of CHF 1.00 each (84.3 % of bearer share capital)/34.2 %  
of voting rights, equivalent to 48.7 % of the share capital

Obligation of Purchase Offer
Under article 5 of the articles of incorporation, a bidder is only required to make a public purchase 
offer as specified in article 32 of BEHG (Swiss Federal law on stock exchanges and share trading), if he 
holds more than 49 % of the voting rights in the company (opting-up).

Agenda 2015

Sales report 29 January 2015

Media and analysts’ conference (Annual Report 2014, Sales Q1 2015) 15 April 2015

General meeting in Arbon 20 May 2015

Ex-dividend date 22 May 2015

Dividend payment 27 May 2015

Half-Year Report 2015 19 August 2015

Distribution
The Board of Directors will propose to the General Meeting on 20 May 2015 a dividend pay-out of 
CHF 16.00 per bearer share (CHF 14.00 in the previous year). The year-end rate corresponds to a dividend 
yield of gross 2.2 %.

Informationen for shareholders
Financial reports, information on corporate governance and on the Hügli share listed on the SIX Swiss 
Exchange can be retrieved from our Investor Relations website: www.huegli.com/en/investor- relations/

The company’s official publication is the Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce (SHAB).
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Key data Hügli bearer share
  2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Unit

Net profit per bearer share. CHF 48.79 43.41 31.18 40.51 57.09

Dividend (proposal 2014). CHF 16.00  14.00  12.00  15.50  15.50 

Payout ratio % 33 32 38 38 27

Equity per bearer share CHF 310 282 259 247 230

Market price 31. 12. CHF 724 517 500 567 689

Markte price high CHF 739 550 670 761 700

Markte price low CHF 516 486 472 520 495

Enterprise Value 31. 12. m. CHF 407 316 329 345 403

Price/Earnings Ratio 31. 12.  14.8  11.9  16.0  14.0  12.1 

Enterprise Value/EBITDA 31. 12.  8.9  7.4  9.8  8.7  8.3 
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SOLID SALES GROWTH 2014, CLEARLY OVER-PROPORTIONAL EBIT INCREASE  
AND IMPROVED FINANCIAL INDICATORS, FURTHER REINFORCED  
BALANCE SHEET

Solid sales growth in difficult economic 
environment
Net group sales grew by +2.6 % to CHF 377.0 mil-
lion. This increase is a result of organic growth of 
+3.6 % (+0.8 % price effect) and a negative curren-
cy effect (particularly EUR, CZK) of –1.0 % alto-
gether. Against the background of a stagnating 
food market in Europe, this is a relatively good 
performance. The previous growth driver Brand 
Solutions slowed down perceptibly in H2 2014 
(H1  2014: +10.2 %/H2 2014: +4.4 %), showing  
a good full-year figure of organic growth of  
+7.1 % as a result. Private Label’s growth, on the 
other hand, accelerated massively as expected  
(H1  2014: +1.4 %/H2 2014: +19.7 %) due to the 
temporary absence of a competitor, allowing  
this division to record the highest increase with  
a  full-year figure of +10.7 %. The tide turned for 
Consumer Brands in the course of the financial 
year (H1 2014: –1.1 %/H2 2014: +6.7 %), the divi-
sion achieving a full-year figure of +2.8 %. The 
Food Industry division attained organic growth of 
+0.7 % in 2014, and succeeded in initiating a turn-
around after two negative years. Dropping sales 
volumes in the gastronomy segment are affecting 
the largest division, Food Service, which continues 
to move slowly on a constant path, with a full-year 
figure of growth of +0.3 %. 
The change of inventory of finished goods stands 
at a high level with CHF +5.3 million thanks to  
a well-filled order book. The operating perfor-
mance in the financial year 2014, measured 
against operating profit, increased currency- 
adjusted by +6.5 % year-on-year. Due to the in-
sourcing of the Vogeley production the produc-
tion volume increased by more than +10 %. This 
operating performance is decisive for the app-
raisal of specific cost positions, particularly pro-
duction costs.

Large sales increase in Germany, 
 declining earning power
Among the geographical segments, the Germany 
segment again confirmed its capacity with an 
 organic sales growth of +7.3 %. Most distribution 
channels showing a positive sales development 
notwithstanding, the Private Label division was 
clearly the main growth driver. Moreover, in order 
to maintain high readiness to deliver, the inven-
tory of finished goods was expanded, increasing 
the production volume even more. Production 
capacity uptake consequently ranged from high 
to very high. The favourable order situation al-
lowed the creation of 30 new full time positions 
(+4.3 %), mostly in production. The altered product 
mix, however, depressed gross margin, causing it 
to drop year-on-year. In addition, personnel costs, 
caused by the build-up of staff numbers and the 
increase of collective agreement salaries, rose 
along with other operating costs. EBIT in local cur-
rencies fell slightly as a result and, after including 
currency translation losses in CHF, recorded a 
 decrease of –4.3 %. The EBIT margin declined from 
9.9 % in the previous year to 9.0 % in 2014. Despite 
this drop, the EBIT margin maintained at an 
above-average level. This proves that despite an 
increase in operating costs, ultramodern machin-
ery and efficient processes can still have a positive 
impact on profitability.

Lack of growth in Western Europe, higher 
profitability due to reorganisations
After the growth recorded in the previous year, the 
segment Switzerland/Rest of Western Europe saw 
a decline of organic –1.9 %. While slow business in 
the Food Service segment depressed Switzerland 
and Austria, the UK suffered a temporary setback 
resulting from the loss of a Private Label key ac-
count. Italy as a distribution market recorded a 
further decline in sales, while as a production site 
it enjoyed a positive development due to a signifi-

Financial report for the consolidated  
financial statements

Andreas Seibold

Chief Financial 
 Officer/Member of 
the Group Executive 
Management
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cant increase in the sale of Italian sauces abroad 
(export business). Switzerland was able to maintain 
its high level of income, whereas Austria saw a de-
crease in sales, with costs remaining unchanged, 
and recorded a drop in EBIT. Income developed very 
favourably in the UK, where the cost basis, despite 
temporary losses in sales, decreased significantly 
thanks to successfully implemented reorganisation 
measures. A good income growth was also regis-
tered in Italy owing to increased sales, reorganisa-
tions and cuts in costs. The operating profit, how-
ever, did not reach our benchmark level and has 
potential for improvement in the coming years.

Light and shadows in sales in Eastern 
Europe, significant plus in operating 
profit
The country cluster Eastern Europe again regis-
tered a drop in outside sales with an organic 
–0.8 %. The increased deliveries to Group subsidi-
aries nevertheless bumped up total sales in CHF 
by +5.9 %. While all distribution channels of Food 
Service showed very growth indicators, adjust-
ments to the customer portfolio of Private Label 
in Eastern Europe still continued. Based on a con-
siderable improvement of production capacity 
uptake and a less than proportional rise in oper-
ating costs, the increase in EBIT in this segment 
came to above +65 %. The EBIT margin of 4.6 %, 
nevertheless, still misses the target. 

Group’s gross margin remained stable 
The prices for raw materials and packaging stabi-
lised at a high level in mid-2013, after having risen 
significantly in the past two years. The urgently 
needed increases in sales prices were finally put 
in place. The over-proportional growth of low-mar-
gin products, on the other hand, led to a negative 
product und divisional mix. The Group’s gross 
margin on sold products remained stable overall 
at the previous year’s level. 

Staff numbers increased thanks to good 
capacity uptake 
The Group’s average number of staff grew by 
+2.2 % year-on-year, with a larger build-up of staff 

in Germany offsetting a decrease of production 
staff in Italy. The number of employees rose from 
the start of the year by +4.3 %, or +57 respective-
ly, to a total 1’378 FTEs as of the balance sheet 
date 31. 12. 2014. Adjusted for currency transla-
tion, personnel expenses increased overall by 
+4.1 % year-on-year. This increase mainly compris-
es the staff build-up in Germany and collective 
agreement salary rises. Personnel expenses in % 
of Group operating income have been declining 
continuously in the past 3 years, from 24.6 % 
(2012) to 24.3 % (2013) to 23.9 % in 2014. This 
 development reflects the impact of efficiency 
 increases and restructuring measures at various 
sites.
The other operating expenses increased currency 
adjusted by +4.5 %. Higher costs accrued mostly 
in H2 2014 in production, development, logistics 
and IT. When compared to the operating income, 
operating expenses dropped from 17.1 % (2013) 
to 16.8 % (2014).
Depreciation stood at the previous year’s level. 
Amortisation rose slightly year-on-year, due to a 
higher inventory of intangible assets.

EBIT margin in mid-range of target 
 corridor 
The EBIT grew by CHF +3.0 million to a total of 
CHF 32.3 million, or +10.2 % year-on-year, respec-
tively. This increase is owed mainly to efficiency 
improvements (lean management) in Italy, the UK 
and the Czech Republic. With 8.6 %, the EBIT mar-
gin lies in the middle range of the strategic target 
corridor of 8 %–9 %.

Interest expenses lower, renewed profit 
increase 
Interest expenses dropped sharply again. On the 
one hand, this is due to a lower average gross debt, 
which dropped by CHF 15 million, or –17 % respec-
tively, year-on-year. The very low short-term inter-
est rates on the capital markets, on the other 
hand, also had a positive impact. The Group’s 
 average interest rate was 1.5 % in 2014 (previous 
year: 1.7 %). With 25.3 %, the tax rate stood at the 
previous year’s level. 

Hügli Annual Report 2014 ••• Financial Reporting 51

GB_2014_EN_03_Finanzteil   51 31.03.15   11:38



After having received a veritable boost of  
+38.8 % in the previous year, consolidated pro- 
fits improved again, and rose by +12.5 % to 
CHF 23.4 million in the year under review. The 
resulting profit margin in the financial year 2014 
came in at 6.2 %.

Balance sheet consistently solid,  
improved financial indicators 
Hügli’s consolidated balance sheet remained 
practically unchanged. Within the net current as-
sets, the accounts receivable were level with the 
sales increases. The days of sales outstanding cal-
culated on this basis remain constant with a pe-
riod of 50 days. Inventories have been standing at 
a relatively high level since mid-year. Their expan-
sion totals CHF 6.3 million, or +12 % respectively, 
and relates almost exclusively to own products. 
The increase was achieved mainly in Germany, 
where a well-filled order book hiked the produc-
tion volume. 
Property, plant and equipment grew based on 
higher investments of CHF 14.3 million in 2014. 
Depreciation amounted to CHF 11.3 million in 
the same period. Investments of CHF 7.3 million  
were made mainly in equipment and machinery. 
The major part of an additional advance pay- 

ment of CHF 4.1 million in tangible assets under 
construction was made for the projected  
construction of a new blending plant with a  
high-rack storage facility in Radolfzell in  
2015/16.
Net debt fell by CHF –9.0 million to CHF 56.4 mil-
lion. This corresponds to a low debt factor (net 
debt/EBITDA) of 1.2x (previous year: 1.5x). Gearing 
also dropped from 0.48 in the previous year to 
0.38 in 2014.The equity ratio rose from 53.4 % at 
the start of the year to a solid 56.8 %. The agreed 
financial covenants, maximum net debt/EBITDA 
ratio (max 3.0x) and equity financing level (mini-
mum 35 %) were thus well maintained on the bal-
ance sheet date.

Renewed de-financing due to  
free cash flow 
While the operating cash flow before the change 
of net working capital rose from CHF 42.6 million 
to CHF 45.7 million in 2014, the cash flow from 
operating activities dropped sharply from 
CHF 40.2 million in the previous year to the new 
level of CHF 31.9 million owing to the capital lock-
up of inventories. The cash flow from operating 
activities was sufficient, however, to finance in-
vestments of CHF –16.1 million, generating a free 
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in million CHF/in% (  EBIT/—EBIT-margin)

10.2
8.6

6.6
8.0 8.6

37.8

28.5

2010 2011 2012

50

25

2013
0

30

15

0

21.5

29.3

2014

32.3

NOA/ROIC 2010–2014

in million CHF/in% (  NOA/—ROIC)

14.3

10.6
7.8

9.8

195.7 204.0
230.9 220.7

2010 2011 2012 2013

10.9

228.6

2014

300

150

0

30

15

0

1  NOA = Net Operating Assets: Net working capital and tangible  
and intangible assets as at balance sheet date

2  ROIC = Return on Invested Capital:   
NOPAT (EBIT × (1 – actual tax rate))/average NOA

52

GB_2014_EN_03_Finanzteil   52 31.03.15   11:38



cash flow of CHF  15.8  million. It was used pri-
marily for a dividend payment of CHF –6.7 million, 
and the amortisation of financial liabilities of 
CHF –6.3 million.

Increase in Profitability
The return on invested capital (ROIC) increased  
to 10.9 % in 2014, after having stood at 9.8 %  
in 2013 and 7.8 % in 2012. The figure of 2014  
corresponds to the long-standing average. For the 
valuation of this ROIC, Hügli will apply the inter-
nally set weighted average cost of capital (WACC), 
which is currently 7.0 %. The resulting good mar-
ket value added (MVA) amounts to +3.9 %. 
The return on equity (ROE) also increased from 
16.3 % in the previous year to 16.6 % in the finan-
cial year 2014.

Dividend payment 2014
The profit achieved per bearer share in 2014 
amounts to CHF 48.79 and thus stands +12.4 % 
above the previous year’s value. Hügli pursues a 
results-oriented dividend policy with a long-term 
ratio of 30 % to 40 % of Group profit per share. The 
Board of Directors will propose to the General 
Meeting of Shareholders on 20 May 2015 a divi-
dend of CHF 16.00 per bearer share (previous year: 
CHF 14.00). The total payout aligns with 33 % (pre-
vious year: 32 %) of Group profits. Based on the 
year-end rate on 31 December 2014, the dividend 
yield is 2.2 %.
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Currency situation, presentation of  
market performance
The Swiss National Bank discontinued the mini-
mum exchange rate of 1.20 Swiss Francs per Euro 
as per 15 January 2015. The Swiss Franc there upon 
soared against the Euro and other currencies 
 relevant for Hügli. The amounts in the income 
statement are reported at year-end exchange 
rates as per 31  December  2014 or at average 
 exchanges rates prevalent in 2014. Thus, they do 
not take into account the development of foreign 
exchange rates after 31 December 2014.
Hügli’s consolidated financial statements are 
 stated in Swiss Francs. The above-mentioned re-
valuation of the Swiss Franc against relevant 
 foreign currencies results in a negative foreign 
currency translation effect on sales and income, 
and through the revaluation of consolidated assets 
and liabilities also on equity. More than 80 % of 
Group sales, and more than 80 % of Group costs, 
are accrued in foreign currencies outside of Swit-
zerland. Overall, Hügli Switzerland shows a good 
natural foreign currency hedge. The major part of 
foreign currency revenues can therefore be reuti-
lised in the same currency as operating expendi-
tures. Consequently, operating currency losses are 

sustained only through the exchange of the small 
foreign currency surpluses (trans action effect). 
For the purpose of a sensitivity analysis, the fol-
lowing negative changes must be anticipated, if 
the Swiss Franc increases 10 % in value against  
all other currencies: Sales –8 % to –9 %, EBIT –9 % 
to –11 % (EBIT margin: –0.3 percentage points), 
equity –9 % to –11 % (equity ratio: –2 percentage 
points). 
Hügli’s reporting currency is the Swiss Franc. This 
reflects the perspective of all stakeholders in Swit-
zerland, including all revaluation effects. On the 
other hand, the Hügli Group achieves more than 
70 % of its cash flows (sales, costs) in Euro, making 
the Euro Hügli’s functional currency, i. e. the cur-
rency used for the primary business activities. The 
achieved Group market performance is thus best 
presented in Euro.
The development of sales and EBIT in the course 
of the past 10 years are displayed in Swiss Francs 
and Euro in the following presentations. Currency 
translation effects in CHF have always had a con-
siderable impact, in particular on sales figures.  
As the following presentations indicate, these ef-
fects have been distorting the Group’s operating 
development.
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 Explanations 2014  2013 

Note in CHF 1’000 in % in CHF 1’000 in %

Sales  18 376’990 100.0 367’308 100.0

Sales deductions  –7’079 –1.9 –7’167 –2.0

Net sales  369’911 98.1 360’141 98.0

Change in inventory of finished and unfinished goods  5’291 1.4 –3’461 –0.9

Operating revenue  375’202 99.5 356’680 97.1

Material expenses  –177’020 –47.0 –166’154 –45.2

Personnel expenses 19 –89’447 –23.7 –86’834 –23.6

Other operating expenses, net 20 –62’840 –16.7 –60’845 –16.6

Operating profit before depreciation  
and amortisation (EBITDA)  45’894 12.2 42’847 11.7

Depreciation tangible fixed assets 6 –11’349 –3.0 –11’460 –3.1

Amortisation intangible assets 7 –2’230 –0.6 –2’061 –0.6

Operating profit (EBIT)  32’315 8.6 29’326 8.0

Interest expenses 22 –1’056 –0.3 –1’470 –0.4

Interest income 22 26 0.0 65 0.0

Other financial result 22 53 0.0 –93 0.0

Profit before taxes  31’338 8.3 27’828 7.6

Income taxes 23 –7’915 –2.1 –7’008 –1.9

Net Group profit  23’423 6.2 20’820 5.7

      

Earnings per bearer share (in CHF) 
(not diluted and diluted) 25 48.79  43.41  

Consolidated Income Statement
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 Explanations 2014 2013

in CHF 1’000 Note

Net Group profit  23’423 20’820

Income taxes 23 7’915 7’008

Interest expenses/Interest income 22 1’030 1’405

Depreciation/Amortisation 6/7 13’579 13’521

Increase/(Decrease) in provisions for employee benefits  –269 –101

Loss/(Profit) from disposal of non-current assets  6 –206

Other non-cash result  58 106

Operating cash flow before the change of net working capital  45’742 42’553

Change in net working capital    

(Increase)/Decrease in receivables  –1’560 –4’247

(Increase)/Decrease in inventories  –6’317 3’121

Increase/(Decrease) in liabilities  –198 4’229

Income taxes paid  –5’781 –5’452

Cash flow from operating activities  31’886 40’204

Investments tangible fixed assets 6 –14’263 –11’126

Investments intangible assets 7 –2’049 –767

Disposals of tangible assets  153 288

Disposals of financial assets  2 12

Interest received  26 65

Cash flow from investing activities  –16’131 –11’528

Increase/(Repayment) of short-term financial liabilities 9 –6’313 –14’359

Repayment of long-term financial liabilities 9 –10’000 –13’140

Increase of long-term financial liabilities  9 10’000 7’000

Dividend payment 17 –6’723 –5’766

Interest paid  –1’056 –1’471

Purchase of own shares 17 0 –1’046

Sale of own shares (Stock ownership plans) 19 638 643

Cash flow from financing activities  –13’454 –28’139

Total cash flow  2’301 537

Translation adjustments on cash and cash equivalents  –112 50

Change in cash and cash equivalents  2’189 587

Cash and cash equivalents at 01. 01.  10’878 10’291

Cash and cash equivalents at 31. 12.  13’067 10’878

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

 Explanations 31. 12. 2014  31. 12. 2014 

Note in CHF 1’000 in % in CHF 1’000 in %

Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 2 13’067  10’878  

Trade accounts receivable 3 53’788  51’546  

Other accounts receivable  3’789  4’852  

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 4 2’017  2’721  

Inventories 5 60’501  54’968  

Current assets  133’163 50.3 124’965 48.8

Land and buildings 6 64’379  67’026  

Technical equipment and machinery 6 45’444  44’154  

Other tangible fixed assets/under construction 6 9’714  7’291  

Intangible assets 7 11’235  11’642  

Financial assets 8 21  23  

Deferred tax assets 11 560  1’012  

Non-current assets  131’353 49.7 131’148 51.2

Assets  264’516 100.0 256’113 100.0

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity      

Short-term financial liabilities 9 42’509  38’166  

Trade payables  19’964  19’766  

Other current liabilities  773  946  

Accrued expenses and deferred income 10 14’644  13’671  

Current liabilities  77’890 29.4 72’549 28.3

Long-term financial liabilities 9 27’000  38’140  

Deferred tax liabilities 11 7’984  6’773  

Provisions for employee benefits 12 1’486  1’789  

Non-current liabilities  36’470 13.8 46’702 18.3

Liabilities  114’360 43.2 119’251 46.6

Share capital 17 485  485  

Capital reserves 17 19’893  19’767  

Own shares 17 –2’061  –2’573  

Retained earnings 17 131’838  119’183  

Shareholders’ equity  150’155 56.8 136’862 53.4

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  264’516 100.0 256’113 100.0

57

GB_2014_EN_03_Finanzteil   57 31.03.15   11:38



Retained earnings

 Explanations 
Share  

capital
 Capital 

reserves
 Own 

Shares

 Other 
 retained 
earnings

 Changes 
in value 

hedge ac-
counting

Translation 
differences Total 

in CHF 1’000 Note

Balance at 31. 12. 2012  485 19’206 –1’609 128’318 –224 –20’659 125’517

Acquired goodwill 
 recognised in equity 17    –5’209   –5’209 

Purchase of own shares 17   –1’046    –1’046

Stock ownership plans         

Sale of own shares 19  561 82    643

Recognition of share-
based  payments 19    93   93

Valuation of cashflow 
hedges 17     554  554

Net Group profit     20’820   20’820

Dividend 17    –5’766   –5’766

Translation differences       1’257 1’257

Balance at 31. 12. 2013  485 19’767 –2’573 138’255 330 –19’402 136’862

Purchase of own shares 17   0    0

Stock ownership plans         

Sale of own shares 19  126 512    638

Recognition of share-
based payments 19    193   193

Valuation of cashflow 
hedges  17     –1’419  –1’419

Net Group profit     23’423   23’423

Dividend 17    –6’723   –6’723

Translation differences       –2’820 –2’820

Balance at 31. 12. 2014  485 19’893 –2’061 155’149 –1’089 –22’222 150’155

Consolidated Statement of Changes  
in Equity

Foreign exchange rates

Balance Sheet Income Statement

 31. 12. 2014 31. 12. 2013 2014 2013

EUR (1) 1.203 1.228 1.215 1.231

GBP (1) 1.542 1.479 1.507 1.450

CZK (100) 4.340 4.480 4.410 4.740

PLN (100) 28.160 29.550 29.040 29.330

HUF (100) 0.381 0.413 0.394 0.415
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SEGMENT REPORTING

2014  Germany

Switzer-
land/ 

Rest West-
ern Europe

Eastern 
Europe

Elimi-
nation/ 

Not  
allocated  

Total 
Group

in CHF 1’000

Consolidated sales  228’972 117’883 30’135   376’990

Inter-segment sales  5’864 24’563 5’278    

Total sales  234’835 142’446 35’414 –35’705   

EBITDA  27’366 15’807 2’721   45’894

Depreciation  –5’148 –5’040 –1’161   –11’349

Amortisation  –1’676 –393 –161   –2’230

EBIT  20’542 10’375 1’399   32’315

EBIT margin  9.0 % 8.8 % 4.6 %   8.6 %

Financial result, net       –977

Income taxes       –7’915

Net Group profit       23’423

Investments  10’007 5’209 1’096   16’312

Assets  140’815 103’085 26’028 –5’412  264’516

Liabilities  18’514 20’483 3’845 71’518  114’360

Personnel (full-time positions)  726 401 251   1’378

 
Food  

Service
Private  

Label
Brand  

Solutions
Food  

Industry
Consumer 

Brands Others
Total  

Group

Sales 161’627 77’371 56’123 36’680 44’565 624 376’990

2013        

Consolidated sales  216’023 119’327 31’958   367’308

Inter-segment sales  7’537 17’688 1’479    

Total sales  223’560 137’015 33’437 –26’704   

EBITDA  28’058 12’412 2’377   42’847

Depreciation  –5’059 –5’051 –1’350   –11’460

Amortisation  –1’528 –351 –182   –2’061

EBIT  21’471 7’010 845   29’326

EBIT margin  9.9 % 5.9 % 2.6 %   8.0 %

Financial result, net       –1’498

Income taxes       –7’ 008

Net Group profit       20’820

Investments  14’756 6’629 475   21’860

Assets  130’621 105’028 25’919 –5’455  256’113

Liabilities  18’814 19’303 4’525 76’609  119’251

Personnel (full-time positions)  696 382 243   1’321

  
Food  

Service
Private  

Label
Brand  

Solutions
Food 

Industry
Consumer 

Brands Others
Total  

Group

Sales 163’699 70’927 52’093 36’172 43’935 482 367’308

Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements
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CORPORATE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

General
The consolidated financial statements of Hügli 
Group are prepared in accordance with all direc-
tives of the Swiss Accounting and Reporting Rec-
ommendations (Swiss GAAP FER). They comply 
with Swiss Corporate Law and the SIX Swiss 
 Exchange Listing Rules. The Swiss GAAP FER 31 
“Complementary recommendations for listed 
companies” that are coming into force on 
01. 01. 2015 have already been applied. Con-
solidation is based on the audited financial 
 statements of the Hügli corporate subsidiaries for 
the year ended 31 December, prepared in accord-
ance with uniform corporate accounting princi-
ples. The consolidated financial statements are 
based on historical cost, with the exception of 
derivative financial instruments that are stated at 
fair value.
The Board of Directors of Hügli Holding AG au-
thorised the consolidated financial statements 
2014 on 26  March  2015. They must also be 
 approved at the Annual General Meeting on 
20 May 2015.

Swiss GAAP FER 31
Hügli applied the IFRS accounting standards until 
2008 and starting with the financial year 2009 
changed to Swiss GAAP FER. The switch aims to 
ensure continuity and comparability with as few 
changes to accounting as possible, and thus to 
safeguard transparency. Accordingly, all account-
ing policies, methods of computation and disclo-
sures that comply with Swiss GAAP FER were con-
tinued without changes. The first application of 
Swiss GAAP FER 31 was done in the previous year 
already. The higher requirements of transparency 
and in ternational comparability have therefore 
already been largely met.

Share-Based Payments
The share-based payments performed within the 
senior management stock ownership programme 
and the share-based payment to the Board of 
 Directors had hitherto already been stated at 

 discounted market value due to the three-year 
retention period. The difference between market 
value and the preferential price granted by the 
stock ownership programme was recognised as 
personnel expense (with an offsetting entry in 
equity) over the vesting period. The contractual 
terms and principles of computation are explained 
in note 19 of the Notes to the Consolidated Fi-
nancial Statements.

Earnings per Share
The method of computation used to determine 
the profit per bearer share, stating the average 
number of outstanding bearer shares, is disclosed 
in note 25 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements. Since neither conversion nor op-
tion rights are outstanding, the profit per share is 
not diluted. In compliance with Swiss GAAP 
FER 31, the information “not diluted and diluted” 
is stated along with the profit per bearer share 
below the income statement.

Income Taxes
The expected weighted average tax rate of the 
Group based on the ordinary profit before taxes 
is disclosed in note 23 of the Notes to the Consol-
idated Financial Statements. Effects of changes 
and reassessments of loss carry-forwards and 
other essential variances in the expected income 
tax expense are quantified and explained.

Financial Liabilities
The valuation principles as well as the terms  
(interest rate, maturity, currency) applying to 
groups of similar instruments are disclosed in 
note 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. As there are only bank loans out-
standing, the statement relates to this type of 
financing.

Segment Reporting
The Hügli Group consists of one single business 
unit with a uniform strategy defined by the Board 
of Directors that focuses on the development, 
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production and distribution of Hügli’s core prod-
uct line (soups, sauces, bouillons and further dry 
blended products).
Striving for transparent information, the Hügli 
Group discretionally exceeds the requirements 
defined by Swiss GAAP FER 31. The present seg-
ment reporting in the Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements reflects the operational and 
production-based structure of the Hügli Group. 
Taking into account the different sales channels 
with their specific economic cycles and elasticities 
of demand, an additional break down of sales fig-
ures is stated based on cross-country customer 
segments (sales divisions).
Detailed information on segment reporting is 
stated on page 59 of the annual report.
 >> see page 59

Material Assumptions and  
Assessments
The preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements requires management to make as-
sumptions and estimates that affect the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, expenses, revenues 
and contingent liabilities at the date of the con-
solidated financial statements. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.
Material assumptions, which influence the con-
solidated financial statements of the Hügli Group, 
include particularly the evaluation of impairments 
of fixed assets and the measurement of tax 
 liabilities.
The estimated useful life of tangible fixed assets 
can be shortened through altered use of property, 
plant and equipment. The recoverable amount of 
intangible assets (mostly brands and customer 
relations) is based on assumptions of future reve-
nues, margins and discount rates. If these assump-
tions change, future results may vary considerably 
from current calculations. The carrying amount of 
such assets is documented in notes 6 and 7.
The valuation of tax liabilities is subject to the 
 interpretation of tax laws in the respective juris-
dictions, who appraise their adequacy through 
final assessment and audits by the tax authorities. 
This can result in material changes to tax expense. 

Furthermore, in order to determine whether tax 
loss carryforwards may be carried as an asset, one 
must first critically assess the probability that 
there will be future taxable profit against which 
to offset them. The budgeted assets may not be 
achieved, due to a variety of influencing factors 
and developments. The book values are explained 
in note 11.
In the course of their ordinary operating activities, 
corporate subsidiaries can become involved in lit-
igation. Depending on the estimate on the part of 
the Executive Committee, this can cause specific 
provisions. The outcome of these proceedings 
may result in claims against the Group that cannot 
be met at all or in full through provisions or insur-
ance cover.

Scope and Principles of  
Consolidation
The scope of consolidation includes Hügli Hold-
ing AG and all Swiss and foreign subsidiaries which 
the parent company, directly or indirectly, controls 
either by holding more than 50 % of the voting 
rights or by having otherwise the power to govern 
their operating and financial policies. Complying 
with the method of full consolidation, assets, lia-
bilities, income and expenses are incorporated 
fully in the consolidated accounts. Intercompany 
balances and transactions (accounts receivable, 
accounts payable, income and expenses) are eli-
minated upon consolidation. 
Minority interests in the equity and net income 
of consolidated companies are presented sepa-
rately. Gains arising from intercompany trans-
actions are eliminated in full. Capital consolida-
tion is based on the purchase method, whereby 
the fair value of assets and liabilities of the ac-
quired subsidiary is cleared against the acquisi-
tion cost at the time of acquisition. The resulting 
goodwill will be recognised in equity. Companies 
acquired in the course of the financial year are 
consolidated from the date on which control is 
obtained. Companies sold are excluded from the 
scope of consolidation as of the date on which 
control is given up, with any gain or loss recog-
nised in income.
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Companies in which Hügli Holding AG has a mi-
nority interest of at least 20 % but less than 50 %, 
or over which it otherwise has significant influ-
ence, are determined by using the equity method 
of accounting and presented separately in the 
consolidated balance sheet. The share in profit or 
loss is recognised and presented separately in the 
consolidated income statement. 
Investments less than 20 % are stated at acquisi-
tion value and presented under other financial 
assets. An overview of the consolidated group of 
companies is provided on page 92.
   >> see page 92

Foreign Currency Translation
The reporting currency is the Swiss Franc (CHF). If 
not stated otherwise, all figures presented in 
these financial statements are rounded to 
CHF 1’000 and reported in Thousand Swiss Francs 
(TCHF). Group companies prepare their financial 
statements in local currency. Transactions in for-
eign currencies are translated at the foreign ex-
change rate ruling at the date of transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities held in foreign 
currencies are translated at the spot rate on the 
balance sheet date. The resulting foreign currency 

gains and losses are recognised in the consolidat-
ed income statement. The fair value fluctuations 
of derivative financial instruments used to hedge 
such balance sheet items are also recognised in 
the consolidated income statement. For consoli-
dation purposes, the financial statements of the 
foreign entities with a functional currency that 
differs from the reporting currency are translated 
into Swiss francs as follows: balance sheets at 
year-end rates, income and cash flow statements 
at average rates for the year under review (except 
for cases, in which the average rate does not cor-
respond to an adequate approximation to the 
rates valid on the dates of transaction). Any 
 translation adjustment resulting from the differ-
ing translation of balance sheets and income 
statements are recognised directly in equity at 
balance sheet date. Foreign currency translation 
effects on long-term not currency congruent fi-
nanced equity-like corporate loans, which are 
 defined as a component of net investments in a 
subsidiary, are recognised directly in equity. When 
realised through the sale of a foreign subsidiary 
these currency translation differences are booked 
as part of the sales income in the income state-
ment.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Hedge Transactions and Derivative  
Financial Instruments
To hedge the foreign currency and interest risks, 
Hügli occasionally makes use of forward currency 
contracts, option contracts and swaps, and there-
by aims to reduce volatility in the income state-
ment. When hedges that qualify for hedge ac-
counting treatment are initially transacted, they 
are classified either as hedging the fair value of  
a specific asset or liability (Fair Value Hedge), as 
hedging of future highly probable cash flows aris-
ing from an expected future transaction (Cash 
Flow Hedge), or hedging a net investment in a 
foreign subsi diary.
Fluctuations in the market values of reported fi-
nancial instruments or firm commitments are 
hedged selectively by means of fair value hedges. 
Within the scope of the hedged risk, a market 
 valuation is made of both the underlying and  
the hedging transaction. 
Fluctuations in the value of cash flow hedge items 
are recognised in accordance with the option in 
Swiss GAAP FER 27 in shareholders’ equity. The 
value fluctuations recognised in shareholders’ eq-
uity of instruments that are held for the purpose 
of hedging future expenses, sales, financial assets 
or liabilities are recognised in the consolidated 
income statement on the date of recognition, on 
which the corresponding underlying transaction 
is recognised. The value fluctuations recognised 
in shareholders’ equity of instruments that are 
held for the purpose of hedging future non-finan-
cial balance sheet items are recognised as a cor-
responding balance sheet item on the date of 
recognition of the underlying transaction. The 
derivative financial statements that are to be stat-
ed are disclosed under the accrued income and 
prepaid expense.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash equivalents include cash and  
cash equivalents with an original maturity of up 
to 3 months. Cash and cash equivalents are stated 
at nominal value.

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are stated at nominal value 
less provisions for doubtful debts. Value adjust-
ments for doubtful debts are established based 
on maturity structure and identifiable solvency 
risks. Besides individual values adjustments with 
respect to specific identifiable risks, value adjust-
ments are also recognised based on statistically 
determined credit risks.

Inventories
Raw materials and goods held for trading are gen-
erally stated at average cost, and internally man-
ufactured products at manufacturing cost (mate-
rials used, direct and indirect labour including the 
respective depreciation). If the net realisable val-
ue, as the estimated sales price less the costs for 
the product completion and less the direct distri-
bution costs, is lower, value adjustments are made 
accordingly. In addition, valuation adjustments 
are made for inventories with an unsatisfying 
turnover, or for inventories that are difficult to sell, 
or based on statistically determined credit risks.

Tangible Fixed Assets
Tangible assets are stated at acquisition cost less 
accumulated straight-line depreciation and im-
pairment allowances, if any. In the case of the op-
erating land and buildings, the historical acquisi-
tion costs are partly based on replacement values, 
which were determined in 1992. These buildings 
are being depreciated over their remaining useful 
lives determined by an external real estate assess-
ment prepared in 2004. Non-operating buildings 
are stated at fair value; the unrealised gains and 
losses resulting from periodic revaluations are rec-
ognised in the income statement.
The useful lives of buildings are 25 to 50 years, of 
infrastructure and interior work 10 to 20 years,  
of machinery and equipment 5 to 15 years, of 
 furniture and vehicles 4 to 10 years and for EDP 
hardware 3 to 6 years. Repair and maintenance 
expense is as a matter of principle directly charged 
to the income statement as incurred.
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Leasing
Assets acquired under finance leases, where sub-
stantially all of the risks and rewards are trans-
ferred to the Group upon entering into the 
 contract, are capitalised at the lower amount of 
minimum lease payments or the fair value. Assets 
are depreciated on a straight-line basis through 
their estimated useful life. The related outstand-
ing lease liabilities are presented under current 
and non-current liabilities. Payments made under 
finance leases include amounts related to interest, 
which is recorded in the income statement, and 
amounts related to the repayment of the financial 
lease liabilities. The rent payments for contracts 
classified as operating leases are charged to the 
income statement as incurred.

Intangible Assets
EDP software and acquired intangible assets, 
which yield a financial benefit such as licenses, 
trademarks, client lists and similar rights are usu-
ally capitalised and amortised over 5 years. In 
 justified cases (established trademarks/solid  
client list with an expected long useful life),  
these assets are amortised over 10 to 20 years at 
the most.

Goodwill
Acquired goodwill, which represents the differ-
ence between the acquisition cost and the fair 
value of the acquired net assets, is recognised in 
equity at the time of acquisition. For the purpose 
of disclosure, the effects of a theoretical capit-
alisation (acquisition value, residual value, useful 
life, depreciation) as well as a possible impairment 
are presented in note 7. In the event of the sale of 
a foreign subsidiary, the goodwill that had pre-
viously been recognised in equity will be cancel- 
led as part of the sales income at the initial costs, 
with any gain or loss recognised in income.

Costs of Research and Development
All costs of research are recognised in the consol-
idated income statement as incurred. In general, 
the costs of development do not match the crite-
ria defined by Swiss GAAP FER 10 for a capitali-

sation and they are therefore also recognised 
 directly in the income statement.

Financial Assets
Marketable securities and other financial assets 
are stated at acquisition cost. Own shares are stat-
ed at acquisition cost and recognised in equity. 
Realised gains and losses from the sale of own 
shares are recorded in share premium.

Impairment
The recoverable amount of non-current assets is 
reviewed at least once a year. If there is any in-
dication of impairment, an impairment test is 
performed. If the carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount, an impairment is recognised 
in the income statement.

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities, as a rule, are stated at nominal 
value. Financial liabilities are classified as current 
liabilities, except for cases, in which an uncondi-
tional right grants a deferment of the settlement 
of the debt by at least 12 months after the bal-
ance sheet date.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised for any present legal or 
constructive obligation incurred as a result of a 
past event, if it is probable that an outflow of eco-
nomic resources will be required to settle the 
 obligation, and the amount can be estimated re-
liably. No provisions are made for possible future 
operating losses.

Taxes
Current income taxes are calculated on taxable 
profits. Deferred taxes are calculated by applying 
the balance sheet liability method for all tempo-
rary differences between the carrying amount 
and tax base of assets and liabilities. The calcu-
lation of deferred taxes is based on the coun-
try-specific tax rates enacted or substantially en-
acted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax 
assets on tax loss carry forwards are recognised 
in the consolidated balance sheet in the event that 
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future taxable profits are available, against which the 
assets can be utilised. Provisions for taxes withheld at 
source on undistributed profits in foreign subsidiaries 
are recorded only if the Group intends to make dividend 
payments in the near future.

Employee Benefits
Swiss Group companies sponsor a legally independent 
benefit plan according to Swiss legislation. This founda-
tion provides services in case of retirement, death and 
disability. Generally, it is funded by employer and em-
ployee contributions. Besides these funding obligations, 
there are no further financial obligations to the Group. 
The economic effects of benefit plans are recognised in 
the consolidated financial statements. In order to deter-
mine whether this results in economic benefit or liabili-
ties for the Group, the effects of benefit plans are as-
sessed annually. The assessment is based on the financial 
statements according to Swiss GAAP FER 26. Employer 
contribution reserves, if any, are recognised as an asset. 
The differences between stated values and correspond-
ing values of the same period in the previous year are 
recognised as personnel expense in the consolidated 
income statement. The obligatory contributions to ben-
efit plans are also charged to personnel expense. 
The other Group companies have no relevant independ-
ent pension plan. Pension provisions for retired individ-
uals and other employee benefit obligations are actuar-
ially calculated and recorded in the provisions. 
The relating social security plans provided by the govern-
ment do not include any future financial commitments 
of the Hügli Group. The funding of such plans is usually 
based on fixed percentages of the insured salaries. The 
employer contributions paid into these plans are recog-
nised directly in the income statement.

Stock Ownership Program/Share-based 
 Payment to the Board of Directors
A stock ownership program allows members of senior 
management to use a limited amount to acquire Group 
shares at 75 % of the market value. In addition, due to 
regulations on the optional share-based payment to the 
Board of Directors, its members can obtain Group shares 
at 75 % of the market value instead of a cash compen-
sation. The enactment of both share programs is subject 
to a retention period of 3 years and during that time 

remains in the custody of Hügli Holding AG. The differ-
ence between market value and the preferential price 
granted by the stock ownership program is recognised 
as personnel expense.

Segment Reporting
The Hügli Group consists of one single business unit with 
a uniform strategy defined by the Board of Directors that 
focuses on the development, production and distribu-
tion of Hügli’s core product line (soups, sauces, bouillons 
and further dry blended products).
The management of all Group subsidiaries is centralised 
and performed by the Board of Directors and the CEO 
based on the designated Group strategy. This central 
decision-making body makes decisions about invest-
ments and other relevant decisions relating to sub-
sidiaries’ and sales divisions’ resources. The operating 
resources of each Group subsidiary are used by all distri-
bution channels (sales divisions), as a rule. Group func-
tions have been established and put under the supervi-
sion of the CEO (Head of Manufacturing, Group Functions 
Research & Development/Supply Chain Management/
Information Technology) to facilitate Group-wide coor-
dination and optimisation of key task areas. Neither the 
subsidiaries nor the sales divisions have autonomy. 
Group Executive Management chaired by the CEO makes 
all relevant decisions. Group Executive Management is 
the only management body with overall responsibility 
for the consolidated income statement. To supervise the 
areas of responsibility of the heads of specialised units, 
profit responsibility has been broken down to sections 
of the value chain (responsibility for contribution margin 
and costs).
Striving for transparent information, the Hügli Group 
discretionally exceeds the requirements defined by  
Swiss GAAP FER 31. The present segment reporting in 
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements re-
flects the operational and production-based structure 
of the Hügli Group. This structure is broken down to 
 production sites including associated sales companies 
(country clusters based on the location of assets), and 
represents the decisive element of corporate and risk 
controlling and of the return on invested capital. Seg-
ment reporting is therefore performed in line with geo-
graphical criteria and based on the legal international 
subsidiaries. The segment “Germany” comprises every 
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active Group company in the country; the seg-
ment “Switzerland/Rest of Western Europe” con-
sists of companies in Switzerland (including 
non-significant Group functions), Austria, United 
Kingdom and Italy. The “Eastern Europe” segment 
includes companies in the Czech Republic, the 
 Slovak Republic, Poland and Hungary. The alloca-
tion of segment assets and segment borrowing 
costs based on geographical criteria does not in-
clude the financial liabilities, tax liabilities and  
tax assets. The segment result before interest  
and taxes (EBIT) can therefore be associated with 
operative net assets.

Taking into account the different sales channels 
with their specific economic cycles and elastici-
ties of demand, an additional break down of sales 
figures is stated based on cross-country custom-
er segments (sales divisions). This additional in-
formation supports the valuation of sales devel-
opment subject to market indicators of the 
individual customer segments, in particular gas-
tronomy (out of home market), the food industry 
and food retail trade (key account business) as 
well as the health food specialist trade (brand 
business).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.  Changes in Scope of Consolidation
In the financial year 2014 the scope of consoli-
daton remained unchanged.
In the previous period 2013 the scope of con-
solidation changed. As per 1 January 2013,  Hügli 
purchased intangible assets, in particular trade-
mark rights and formulas, as well as the sales 
department with around 70 staff from Vogeley 
Group in Germany. With “Vogeley”, Hügli has 
acquired a traditional and more than 100 years 
old brand that is well established in the Food 
Service direct sales. Its assortment of dry  
blend products mainly comprises instant des-
serts as well as soups, sauces, bouillons and 
 seasonings.
The purchase transaction and employment of the 
acquired sales staff were performed by the newly 
established Hügli subsidiary Vogeley Nahrungs-
mittel GmbH. It is included in the scope of con-
solidation starting from 1 January 2013.
The acquisition costs totalled TCHF 16’884, which 
include transaction costs of TCHF 120 that can be 
allocated directly. In December 2012, an advance 
payment of TCHF 16’390 was performed, causing 
the cash flow from acquisitions to occur mainly in 
the financial year 2012. 
As per 1  January  2013 intangible assets in the 
amount of TCHF  9’967 were capitalised. The ac-
quired, well-established brands in the amount of 
TCHF 8’751 will be amortised over 15 years, the 
formulas in the amount of TCHF  1’216 over 
5 years. The acquired capital commitments to in-
dividual employees for TCHF 420 are recognised 
under the employee benefit provisions.
In compliance with Swiss GAAP FER, acquired 
goodwill is recognised in equity at the time of ac-
quisition. It amounts to TCHF 7’337 and essential-
ly reflects the value of acquired staff and the ex-
pected buyer specific synergies.

A capitalisation of goodwill with an amortisation 
period of 5 years would have theoretically in-
creased the amortisation in the reporting period 
by TCHF 1’477 (TCHF 1’497 in the previous year).

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents  

 2014 2013

in CHF 1’000

Bank accounts and  
cash on hand 13’067 10’878

The bank and postal accounts are current ac-
counts. There were no call assets or fixed invest-
ments.

3.  Trade Accounts Receivable

 2014 2013

in CHF 1’000   

Trade accounts receivable, gross 55’014 53’019

./. Valuation allowance –1’226 –1’473

Total 53’788 51’546

The ageing structure of trade accounts receivable 
was at  balance sheet date as follows:

 2014 2013

in CHF 1’000

Not due 39’678 35’990

Overdue within 1 month 7’988 8’714

Overdue between 1 to 3 months 3’637 3’642

More than 3 months overdue 3’711 4’673

./. Valuation allowance –1’226 –1’473

Total 53’788 51’546
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Value adjustments on trade accounts receivable 
have changed as follows:

 2014 2013

in CHF 1’000

At 01. 01. 1’473 1’592

Increase 690 903

Decrease/Utilisation –913 –1’026

Exchange differences –25 4

At 31. 12. 1’226 1’473

The trade accounts receivable, which are not due, 
mainly arise from long-standing and well-diversi-
fied customer relationships. Based on experience, 
Hügli does not anticipate any  significant defaults.

4. Accrued Income and Prepaid 
 Expenses

 2014 2013

in CHF 1’000

Tax receivables 148 99

Derivative financial instru-
ments 17 361

Other accrued income/prepaid 
expenses 1’853 2’261

Total 2’017 2’721

5. Inventories

 2014 2013

in CHF 1’000

Raw materials  
(incl. packaging material) 21’785 21’910

Manufactured products 30’542 24’869

Trade goods 8’716 8’645

./. Valuation allowance –543 –456

Total 60’501 54’968
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6. Tangible Fixed Assets

2014
Land and 
Buildings

Tech. Equip./ 
Machinery

Other  
tangible  

assets

Under con-
struction/

Advance  
payments Total

in CHF 1’000

Gross amount at 01. 01. 98’464 99’785 36’413 1’523 236’185

Additions 817 7’272 2’090 4’084 14’263

Disposals 0 –624 –1’478 0 –2’102

Transfers 0 1’529 –44 –1’490 –5

Exchange differences –1’419 –1’328 –576 –55 –3’378

Gross amount at 31. 12. 97’861 106’635 36’404 4’062 244’963

Accumulated depreciation at 01. 01. –31’438 –55’631 –30’645 0 –117’714

Planned depreciation –2’492 –6’914 –1’943 0 –11’349

Disposals 0 597 1’345 0 1’942

Transfers 0 0 2 0 2

Exchange differences 447 756 490 0 1’693

Accumulated depreciation at 31. 12. –33’483 –61’191 –30’752 0 –125’426

Carrying values at 01. 01. 67’026 44’154 5’768 1’523 118’471

Carrying values at 31. 12. 64’379 45’444 5’652 4’062 119’537

2013      

Gross amount at 01. 01. 99’721 91’133 35’203 2’289 228’346

Additions 931 6’973 1’751 1’471 11’126

Disposals –2’462 –967 –642 0 –4’071

Transfers 0 1’931 –215 –2’278 –561

Exchange differences 274 714 316 41 1’345

Gross amount at 31. 12. 98’464 99’785 36’413 1’523 236’185

Accumulated depreciation at 01. 01. –31’095 –49’620 –28’989 0 –109’704

Planned depreciation –2’554 –6’650 –2’256 0 –11’460

Disposals 2’462 888 642 0 3’992

Transfers 0 332 228 0 561

Exchange differences –251 –581 –271 0 –1’103

Accumulated depreciation at 31. 12. –31’438 –55’631 –30’645 0 –117’714

Carrying values at 01. 01. 68’626 41’513 6’214 2’289 118’641

Carrying values at 31. 12. 67’026 44’154 5’768 1’523 118’471

Investments in finance leases are disclosed under tan-
gible fixed assets. Their net book value amounts to 
TCHF 333 (TCHF 482 in the previous year). There have 
been no non-cash additions to investments in finance 
leases. There are no separable undeveloped lots of land. 
The fire insurance value of tangible fixed assets totals 
TCHF 216’971, whereof TCHF 92’243 is for buildings and 
TCHF 124’728 for other tangible assets. In the previous 

year, the total was TCHF 222’993, whereof TCHF 101’561 
was for buildings and TCHF 121’432 for other tangible 
assets.
There are no pledged tangible fixed assets for financial 
liabilities (previous year: Real estate mortgage rights to-
talling TCHF 8’342, thereof the utilised credit amounted 
to TCHF 5’510).
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7.  Intangible Assets/Advance payment intangible values 

Capitalised brands and other intangible assets

2014
Software, 

Others

Brands, 
 Intellectual 

property 
rights Total

in CHF 1’000

Gross amount At 01. 01. 13’014 13’897 26’911

Additions 773 1’276 2’049

Disposals –89 0 –89

Transfer 4 0 4

Exchange differences –185 –289 –474

Gross amount at 31. 12. 13’517 14’884 28’401

Accumulated amortisation At 01. 01. –11’017 –4’252 –15’269

Planned amortisation –923 –1’309 –2’232

Disposals 89 0 89

Transfer –1 0 –1

Exchange differences 154 94 248

Accumulated amortisation at 31. 12. –11’699 –5’467 –17’166

Carrying values at 01. 01. 1’997 9’645 11’642

Carrying values at 31. 12. 1’818 9’417 11’235

2013    

Gross amount At 01. 01. 12’225 3’698 15’923

Additions 767 9’967 10’734

Disposals –5 0 –5

Exchange differences 27 232 259

Gross amount at 31. 12. 13’014 13’897 26’911

Accumulated amortisation at 01. 01. –10’134 –2’986 –13’120

Planned amortisation –841 –1’220 –2’061

Disposals 5 0 5

Exchange differences –47 –45 –92

Accumulated Amortisation at 31. 12. –11’017 –4’252 –15’269

Carrying values at 01. 01. 2’090 712 2’803

Carrying values at 31. 12. 1’977 9’645 11’642
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Non-capitalised goodwill
Acquired goodwill, which represents the differ-
ence between the acquisition cost and the fair 
value of the acquired net assets, is recognised in 
equity at the time of acquisition.

Overview of acquisitions, whose goodwill was recognised in equity according to Swiss GAAP FER:

Name, registered office Vogeley Nahrungsmittel GmbH, Hameln, Deutschland

Activities
Distribution of Instant-Desserts (Pudding, Crème, Mousse), soups, sauces and bouillon  
und seasonings

Acquisition date 01. 01. 2013

Acquisition type Acquisition of intangible assets (trademark rights, recipes), Acquisition of sales department

Name, registered office Contract Foods Ltd. (today: Huegli UK Ltd.), Redditch, UK

Activities Manufacturing of dry blends in the functional foods domain, mainly food supplements

Acquisition date 31. 01. 2008

Acquisition type Direct acquisition of 100 % of the shares

Name, registered office Ali-Big Industria Alimentare s.r.l., Brivio, Italy

Activities Production and distribution of liquid sauces and antipasti

Acquisition date 30. 06. 2007

Acquisition type Direct acquisition of 100 % of the shares

Name, registered office Supro Nährmittel AG, CH-St. Gallen/EPS Holding AG, CH-Steinach

Activities Production and distribution of dressings, soups, sauces and bouillons

Acquisition date 01. 09. 2005

Acquisition type Direct acquisition (100 %) EPS Holding AG incl. subsidiary (100 %) Supro Nährmittel AG

Name, registered office
Inter-Planing GmbH, DE-Neuburg/Langenhaslach  
OSCHO GmbH, DE-Neuburg/Langenhaslach 

Activities Production and distribution of dressings, soups, sauces and bouillons

Acquisition date 17. 08. 2005

Acquisition type Acquisition (100 %) of Inter-Planing GmbH Acquisition of assets/liabilities OSCHO

Name, registered office Helva Ltd., UK

Activities Distribution of soups, sauces, bouillons

Acquisition date 01. 01. 1999

Acquisition type Direct acquisition of 100 % of the shares
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The effects of a theoretical capitalisation of good-
will and a linear depreciation over five years are 
presented separately in the following table. 
The reported Group EBIT 2014 of TCHF  32’315 
would thereby be reduced by planned amortisa-
tion of TCHF  1’477 to theoretical TCHF  30’838 
(previous year: of reported TCHF  29’326 by 
TCHF 2’120 to theoretical TCHF 27’206). The re-
ported EBIT margin 2014 of 8.6 % would fall to 
theoretical 8.2 % (previous year: of reported 8.0 % 
to theoretical 7.4 %). 

Group equity of TCHF 155’155, reported as per 
31. 12. 2014, would be increased by the net book 
value of goodwill of TCHF 4’388, after deferred 
taxes of TCHF 1’273, to theoretical TCHF 153’270 
(previous year: of reported TCHF  136’862 by 
TCHF 5’972, after deferred taxes of TCHF 1’732 to 
theoretical TCHF 141’102).The reported equity ra-
tio 2014 of 56.8 % of total assets would rise to 
theoretical 57.3 % (previous year: of reported 
53.4  % to theoretical 54.2 %).

Theoretical Goodwill

2014 Helva

Inter- 
Planing/

Oscho
Supro/

EPS Ali-Big
Contract 

Foods Vogeley Total

in CHF 1’000

Gross amount at 01. 01. 266 9’398 4’670 8’406 5’409 7’464 35’613

Exchange differences 11 –191 0 –171 230 –152 –273

At 31. 12. 278 9’207 4’670 8’235 5’639 7’313 35’341

Accumulated amortisation

At 01. 01. –266 –9’398 –4’670 –8’406 –5’409 –1’493 –29’642

Planned amortisation 0 0 0 0 0 –1’477 –1’477

Exchange differences –11 191 0 171 –230 45 166

At 31. 12. –279 –9’207 –4’670 –8’235 –5’639 –2’925 –30’954

Goodwill 01. 01. 0 0 0 0 0 5’972 5’972

Goodwill 31. 12. 0 0 0 0 0 4’388 4’388

2013        

Gross amount at 01. 01. 267 9’237 4’670 8’262 5’434 0 27’871

Additions 0 0 0 0 0 7’337 7’337

Exchange differences –1 161 0 144 –26 128 405

At 31. 12. 266 9’398 4’670 8’406 5’409 7’464 35’613

Accumulated amortisation        

At 01. 01. –267 –9’237 –4’670 –8’262 –4’796 0 –27’232

Planned amortisation 0 0 0 0 –623 –1’497 –2’120

Exchange differences 1 –161 0 –144 10 4 –289

At 31. 12. –266 –9’398 –4’670 –8’406 –5’409 –1’493 –29’642

Goodwill 01. 01. 0 0 0 0 639 0 639

Goodwill 31. 12. 0 0 0 0 0 5’972 5’972
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The goodwill equals the surplus of the acquisition 
cost over the fair values of the acquired net assets, 
and represents the expected future economic 
benefit of the acquired companies that cannot be 
identified and valued separately. The goodwill po-
sitions resulting from the acquisition mainly re-
flect the expected synergies, future products and 
the acquired employees.
The goodwill positions are assigned to the cash 
generating units (CGU) mentioned in the table, 
which consist either of Group units that comprise 
several companies, or of single Group companies. 
The goodwill positions, which are not fully amor-
tised, are tested for impairment at least annually 
at the CGU level. The value in use is based on fu-
ture projected discounted cash flows. Usually, the 
cash flows correspond to detailed financial plans 
that were approved by management and cover the 
period of the first 3 years. For the subsequent 
years, expected growth rates are taken into con-
sideration and for years 11 and beyond, an infinite 
cash flow value is included in the calculation. The 
projections use expected EBITDA growth rates of 
5 % based on the assessment of future economic 
developments. After a period of 10 years, zero 
growth is applied. The discount rate is between 
7.5 % and 9.0 %, considering specific risk premiums 
on the base of the weighted average cost of capi-
tal (WACC) of Hügli Group of 7.0 %. Because the 
cash flow projections are determined after taxes, 
the established discount rates also allow for the 
specific tax effects.
Based on the impairment tests and sensitivity 
analyses as of closing date, the values of all good-
will positions are supported. No realistically possi-
ble changes are expected to affect the applied key 
assumptions (discount rate, growth rate) that may 
result in recoverable amounts of goodwill, which 
exceed the respective carrying amounts. This ex-
cludes unforeseen circumstances. 

 8. Financial Assets

 2014 2013 

in CHF 1’000

Securities 21 23

The securities currently consist in marginal assets 
set aside with the legal requirement to allocate 
assets to cover provisions for employee benefits.

9. Financial Liabilities

 2014 2013 

in CHF 1’000

Current financial liabilities 42’509 38’166

Non-current financial liabilities 27’000 38’140

Total 69’509 76’306

thereof secured mortgages 0 5’510

Planned maturity   

up to 1 year 42’509 38’166

up to 2 years 10’000 11’140

up to 3 years 7’000 10’000

up to 4 years 10’000 7’000

up to 5 years 0 10’000

Breakdown to currencies   

CHF 37’500 36’000

EUR 19’257 22’595

CZK 6’554 11’020

GBP 5’243 6’064

HUF 955 627

The financial liabilities primarily consist of fixed 
advances from banks in the currencies. None are 
secured by mortgages (TCHF 5’510 in the previous 
year). Non-current financial liabilities with maturi-
ty terms of 1 to 5 years are at fixed interest rates. 
The interest rates for current financial liabilities are 
adjusted to market level several times a year. The 
interest-bearing foreign capital has a number of 
financial terms of credit (financial covenants), 
which among other requisites, requires the obser-
vance of financial operating figures such as the net 
debt to EBITDA ratio (max. 3.0x) and the minimum 
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equity to asset ratio (min. 35 %). These terms of 
credit were observed at the balance sheet date (net 
debt to EBITDA ratio 1.2x, equity to asset ratio 
56.8 %). For financial liabilities in total, the average 
interest rate amounted to 1.5 % (1.7 % in the previ-
ous year).

10.  Accrued Expenses and  
Deferred Income

 2014 2013 

in CHF 1’000

Personnel/social securities 3’090 3’119

Accrued vacation and overtime 2’435 1’986

Customer related liabilities 2’362 2’360

Derivative financial instru-
ments 1’201 0

Sundry accrued expenses/ 
deferred income 5’556  6’206

Total  14’644  13’671

11.  Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 
The deferred tax assets and liabilities are allocat-
ed to the following balance sheet positions:

 2014 2013 

in CHF 1’000

Inventories 975 640

Land and buildings 4’385 4’466

Other fixed assets 1’446 1’319

Provisions 3’120 2’859

Other balance sheet positions 400 211

Total tax liabilities 10’325 9’496

Inventories 250 189

Land and buildings 0 0

Other fixed assets 1’783 2’401

Provisions 0 0

Other balance sheet positions 868 1’145

Total tax assets 2’901 3’735

Deferred tax liabilities, net 7’984 6’773

Deferred tax assets, net 560 1’012

Deferred tax liabilities and tax assets based on 
temporary valuation differences are recorded with 
their gross amounts. Appropriate netting of de-
ferred tax liabilities and tax assets is performed in 
consolidation. 
Tax assets on loss carry-forwards are only capital-
ised if seems probably that they can be realised. In 
countries and subsidiaries, respectively, in which 
the utilisation of loss carry-forwards cannot be 
foreseen, capitalisation is foregone. 
Detailed information to capitalised and not capi-
talised loss carry-forwards can be found in note 23.

12. Employee Benefit Provisions 

 2014 2013 

in CHF 1’000

At 01. 01. 1’789 1’445

Increase 164 405

Utilisation –358 –82

Decrease –75 –2

Exchange differences –34 24

At 31. 12. 1’486 1’789

The employee benefit provisions for retired individ-
uals as well as the partial retirement accounts pay-
able in Germany, Austria and Italy are periodically 
calculated by an actuary.
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13. Employee Benefits 

Economic benefit/economic provisions and employee benefit expenses:

Surplus/-deficit 
according to  

Swiss GAAP FER
Economical part of  

the organisation

Change to 
prior year 
period or 

recognised 
in the cur-
rent result 

of the  
period, re-
spectively

Contribu-
tions con-

cerning the 
business 

period

Pension benefit  
expenses within 

 personnel expenses

 31.12.2014 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 31.12.2013 2014 2014 2014 2013
in CHF 1’000 

Pension institutions 
with surplus 0 0 0 0 0 1’411 1’411 1’406

Total 0 0 0 0 0 1’411 1’411 1’406

Swiss Group companies sponsor a legally inde-
pendent pension plan foundation according to 
Swiss legislation. The actuarially assumed surplus 
of the employee benefit foundation of Hügli 
Nährmittel AG amounts to CHF 9.9 million in the 
financial year (CHF  8.2  million in the previous 
year). This corresponds to a weighted coverage 
rate according to article 44 BVV2 of 125 %, based 
on an assumed interest rate of 2.5 % and BVG 
2010 (in the previous year: 122 %, assumed inter-
est rate 2.5 %). As the reserve for value fluctua-
tions that is being accumulated has not yet 
reached the target value of CHF 10.0 million or 
20 % of assets, respectively, no positive dotation 
capital is stated in the balance sheet. No surplus 
can be determined as under Swiss GAAP FER 16, 
a surplus would require positive non-committed 
funds in the dotation capital.
The surplus is not at disposal to the Group for eco-
nomic use in the form of reduction or repayment 
of contributions. The employee benefit costs in-
cluded in the personnel costs relates to the ordi-
nary payment of contributions of the affiliated 
Group companies.

14.  Financial Instruments and Financial 
Risk Management

Financial Risk Management Principles
The international business activities of the Hügli 
Group are exposed to various financial risks, in 
particular credit risk, market risk (including curren-
cy, interest rate and price risk) and liquidity risk. 
The risk management principles are geared to 
identifying and analysing the risks to which the 
Group is exposed in a volatile market environment 
and to establish the appropriate control mecha-
nisms. The Group’s department of Finance and 
Controlling hedges certain defined risks in close 
cooperation with the divisions. The Board of Di-
rectors bears ultimate responsibility for risk man-
agement.
Further disclosures on the performance of risk 
assessment according to the Swiss Code of Obli-
gations (article 663b paragraph 12) are presented 
in the Notes to the Financial Statements of Hügli 
Holding AG.

Credit Risk
The credit risk is the Group’s risk of suffering fi-
nancial loss if a customer is unable or unwilling 
to meet contractual business obligations. The 
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Hügli Group’s main credit risks arise from trade 
accounts receivable. Such liabilities are moni-
tored continuously and systematically. The dan-
ger of cluster risks is limited due to the large num-
ber and wide geographical spread of customers. 
Hügli enters into bank transactions only with 
important financial institutions. The credit risk is 
mainly limited to current bank accounts, and sec-
ondarily to transactions involving derivative fi-
nancial instruments. The maximum credit risk is 
confined to the carrying amounts stated for the 
individual financial assets. Hügli has not entered 
into any guarantees or similar obligations.

Currency Risk
Hügli operates internationally and is therefore 
exposed to currency risks. These financial risks 
occur in connection with transactions, in particu-
lar the purchase and sale of goods, which are ef-
fected in currencies that differ from the function-
al currency (local currency). Such transactions are 
performed mainly in Swiss Francs (CHF), Euro 
(EUR), British Pounds (GBP), Czech Crowns (CZK), 
Polish Zloty (PLN) and Hungarian Forint (HUF). 
Hügli reduces currency risks considerably by pur-
chasing and producing goods in the functional 
currency (“congruency” rule). Where this is not 
possible or only to a limited extent, currency ex-
posure is generated, predominantly concerning 
the exchange rates CHF/GBP, CHF/EUR, EUR/GBP, 
CZK/PLN and CZK/HUF. We also restrict the 
Group’s external financing where possible to cur-
rencies, in which medium-term free cash flows 
can be expected. 
As per 31. 12. 2014 currency futures with a matu-
rity of 1 to 12 months for the partial hedging of 
currency risks of future highly probable accruals 
of foreign currencies in EUR, GBP, PLN and HUF are 
outstanding. The open contract values (nominal 
values of hedge transactions) and the positive/
negative replacement values (potential return on 
closure of contracts or unrealised profits/losses 
before taxes) are as follows:

 2014 2013 

in CHF 1’000

Contract value  
(EUR, GBP, PLN, HUF) 2’817 5’162

Replacement value  
profits/(losses) –11 24

Interest-rate Risk
The interest-rate risk is caused by changes in mar-
ket interest rates and in the risk premiums of the 
ca pital markets, which relate to the Group’s invest-
ments. The risk of fluctuating interest rates can be 
limited through the ratio of fixed-interest to varia-
ble interest liabilities and the ratio of short-term 
and long-term financial liabilities, which agrees 
with our risk policy. Due to financial liabilities being 
stated at par value, changes in interest rates have 
no impact on the income statement. A 1 %-point 
increase (or reduction) of the average interest rate 
for short-term variable interest advances would 
have increased (or  reduced) group profit by CHF 
0.4 million (CHF 0.4 million in the previous year).

 2014 2013 

in CHF 1’000

Contract value  
(EUR, GBP, PLN, HUF) 25’000 25’000

Replacement value  
profits/(losses) –1’173 337

In 2012, various forward interest rate swaps were 
used to hedge future periods, mainly for a five-year 
duration, with the aim to fix the interest rates for 
a highly probably basic funding of a maximum of 
CHF 25 million and hedge it to offset future interest 
increases. The first tranche began in 2014, the last 
ends in 2022. The weighted average of the fixed 
interest rates amounts to 0.99 %. Due to decreasing 
capital market interest rates negative replacement 
values of TCHF –1’173 (previous year positive re-
placement values of TCHF 337) have resulted and 
were recognised in equity.
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Price Risk
Hügli is exposed to crucial price risks in the area of 
the purchasing of materials as these represent the 
largest cost factor of around 50 % of the sales vol-
ume of the Group. The purchasing prices of raw 
materials, in particular of important raw goods 
such as dairy products, grain, vegetables, vegetable 
oils, yeasts and spices, depend on the interaction 
of supply and demand. Price shifts arise on the sup-
ply side, based on climate-related harvest failures 
or the use of agricultural areas for the production 
of (bio) ethanol, among others. On the demand 
side, price shifts can be caused by the higher pur-
chasing power of populous countries or the strong 
demand for biological products. Hügli limits the 
market price risks of the most important products 
through storage measures and through settled 
purchasing contracts with fixed maturities. Under 
certain circumstances, Hügli can hedge the raw 
materials price risk indirectly through the purchase 
of Agriculture Commodity Indices.

Liquidity Risk
The liquidity risk is the risk that Hügli will be una-
ble to meet its financial obligations when they are 
due. Liquidity management consists in maintain-
ing sufficient liquidity reserves to offset the usual 
liquidity fluctuations. At the same time, the Group 
has unused credit lines at its disposal that it can 
apply in the event of more serious  fluc tuations. 
The total amount of unused credit lines as per 
31. 12. 2014 was CHF 77.1 million (CHF 54.1 mil-
lion in the previous year). The credit lines are 
spread over several banks so that there is no ex-
cessive dependence on any one financial institu-
tion.

15. Operating Leases/Lease Contracts
The liabilities from operating leases and ongoing 
long-term lease contracts are due as follows: 

 2014 2013 

in CHF 1’000

Due within 1 year 3’643 3’740

Due between 1 to 5 years 6’541 4’564

Due after 5 years 4’373 311

Total 14’556 8’615

The leasing contracts predominantly consist of 
motor vehicles for the sales force. The long-term 
lease obligations comprise multi-year lease con-
tracts at the production sites in Switzerland, Italy 
and the UK.

16.  Contingent and Future Liabilities, 
Capital Commitments

As per 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, 
there were no positions requiring disclosure.
The Group is currently involved in various legal 
cases that have arisen from normal business de-
velopments. For these ongoing legal cases, there 
are in justified cases short-term provisions to cov-
er risks that the Group assumes to be foreseeable 
risks. Therefore, the effects neither in individual 
cases nor in total have a significant influence on 
the financial position and profitability.
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17.  Capital Management  
and Shareholders’ Equity

Within capital management, the management of 
consolidated equity primarily aims at maintaining 
a solid balance sheet structure with an appropri-
ate equity ratio (based on continuing values), en-
suring the necessary financial scope in order to be 
able to make investments and acquisitions in the 
future, and achieving a ROE (return on equity) ap-
propriate for the risk.

The monitoring of equity is performed based on 
following ratios: 

••• Equity ratio: 56.8 %/53.4 % in the previous 
year (equity to total assets)

••• Gearing: 0.38/in the previous year: 0.48 (in-
terest bearing net debt to equity) 

••• Return on equity (ROE): 16.6 %/in the previ-
ous year: 16.3 % (group profit in percentage 
of average equity).

These ratios are reported to the Board of Directors 
at regular intervals by internal financial reporting. 
Based on strategic objectives, the medium target 
for the equity ratio is to maintain it over 40 % and 
to keep gearing below 1. The return on equity 
should be kept above 15 %.
Hügli pursues a results-oriented dividend policy 
with a ratio of 30 % to 40 % of the Group’s profit 
per share. The Board of Directors is proposing  
to the General Meeting of Shareholders on 
20 May 2015 a dividend of CHF 16.00 (payout in 
the previous year: CHF 14.00) per bearer share and 
CHF 8.00 (payout in the previous year: CHF 7.00) 
per registered share, respectively. The payout 
aligns with 33 % (in the previous year: 32 %) of 
Group profits.
The shareholders’ equity per balance sheet date 
consisted of the following:

 2014 2013 

in CHF 1’000

Share capital 
consists of fully paid-in 
280’000 bearer shares CHF 1.00  
410’000 registered  
shares CHF 0.50 485 485

Bearer shares valued at average 
acquisition costs of  
CHF 509.19 (PY: CHF 462.95) –2’061 –2’573

Capital reserves 19’893 19’767

Retained earnings 131’838 119’183

Total 150’155 136’862

Own shares at 01. 01. (in units) 5’558 5’254

Sales via stock ownership 
 program –1’510 –1’696

Purchase of own shares 0 2’000

Own shares at 31. 12. (in units) 4’048 5’558

Complying with Swiss GAAP FER, the last year ac-
quired goodwill of TCHF 7’337, was recognised in 
equity at the time of acquisition, along with the 
corresponding deferred tax assets of TCHF 2’128, 
which led to a net amount of recognition of TCHF 
of 5’209.
The capital reserves increase by the profit from 
the sale of own shares. The amount of TCHF 193 
(TCHF 93 in the previous year) relating to the rec-
ognised costs of stock ownership plans was ex-
pensed in the income statement. The directly 
stated results in the retained earnings are mainly 
related to translation adjustments of net assets 
of Group companies and equity-like Group loans 
denominated in foreign currencies due to the val-
uation at the balance sheet date. In addition, due 
to hedge accounting, the valuation of cash flow 
hedges was reported with the amount of 
TCHF –1’419 (TCHF 554 in the previous year) and 
the replacement value TCHF–1’545 (TCHF 605 in 
the previous year) minus deferred taxes of 
TCHF 126 (TCHF –51 in the previous year), respec-
tively.
The fair value changes of cashflow hedges arose 
as follows:
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 2014 2013

in CHF 1’000

Withdrawal from reserve: 
Transferred to income 
 statement –24 –20

Appropriation to reserve: –28 24

Fair value adjustments –1’493 601

Deferred taxes on cashflow-
hedges 126 –51

Total –1’419 554

Translation gains and losses recorded in equity 
arose as follows:

 2014 2013

in CHF 1’000

Translation gains/(losses)  
of net investments –1’219 605

Translation gains/(losses)  
of corporate loans, net –1’601 652

Total –2’820 1’257

In order to maintain the stock ownership plans, it 
was decided to acquire further Hügli shares on the 
market as from 2011. In 2014 no shares were ac-
quired (2’000 shares in the previous year with a 
average purchase price of CHF 521.86).
The consolidated reserves include legally required 
reserves of CHF 15.0 million (CHF 15.0 million in 
the previous year). Based on local law of the re-
spective countries, the reserves cannot be paid 
out to shareholders.
There is no contingent or authorised capital. Fur-
thermore, no conversion or option rights are out-
standing.

18. Sales
The segment reporting is presented on page 59
 of this annual report. >> see page 59

In addition, a breakdown of sales according to 
product groups and geographic markets (location 
of customers) is displayed on page 4. 

>> see page 4

19. Personnel Expenses

 2014 2013

in CHF 1’000

Salaries and wages 74’071 72’509

Social benefits 14’490 14’035

Other personnel costs 886 289

Total 89’447 86’834

Stock Ownership Plan
In accordance with a senior management partic-
ipation program established by the Board of Di-
rectors, members of senior management are en-
abled to use a limited part of the bonus to acquire 
shares (owned by the company) at a preferential 
price of 75 % of the market value. 
The offer is given out in April. In 2014, 743 shares 
were obtained at a price of CHF 387.40 per share, 
in the previous year 947 shares at a price of 
CHF 375.00 per share. Furthermore, based on reg-
ulations regarding the optional share-based pay-
ment to the Board of Directors, in November 2014, 
767 shares were transferred to Board members at 
the discounted rate of CHF 454.50 per share, in the 
previous year 749 shares at a price of CHF 390.00 
per share instead of cash compensation. The en-
actment of both share programs is subject to a 
retention period of 3 years and during that time 
remains in the custody of Hügli Holding AG.
The difference between market value and the 
 discount granted on the basis of the share partic-
ipation plan is recognised as personnel expense 
(with an offsetting entry in equity) in the income 
statement, with any gain or loss recognised in in-
come. The costs in the financial year amount to 
TCHF 193 (TCHF 93 in the previous year).
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20.  Other Operating Expenses, net

 2014 2013

in CHF 1’000

External logistics  18’266 17’580

Distribution costs  18’181 19’471

Production costs  7’251 6’896

Management Services, Others 19’370 17’220

./. Other operating income –227 –322

Total 62’840 60’845

Other operating income primarily contains ex-
pense credits, through cost transfers of packag-
ing/postage and discounts, income from other 
periods as well as rental incomes, among others. 
Losses in the amount of TCHF –5 resulted from 
the disposal of fixed assets (profits of TCHF 206 
in the previous year).

21. Development Costs
Development costs of TCHF 2’955 (TCHF 2’686 
in the previous year) were recognised in 2014. 
Development serves mainly the creation of new 
products and improvement of the existing prod-
uct range and is included in the personnel and 
other operating costs and depreciation posi-
tions. Development costs were at no time capi-
talised.

22. Financial Resulsts

 2014 2013

in CHF 1’000

Interest expenses 1’056 1’470

Other financial expenses 67 94

Financial expenses 1’123 1’564

Interest income –26 –65

Other financial income –120 –1

Financial income –146 –66

Financial expenses, net 977 1’498

The financial expenses decreased owing to con-
siderably lower short-term interest rates of the 
capital market and due to a lower level of debt, 

which on average decreased by CHF 15 million. 
Overall, the average interest rate on financial lia-
bilities resulted in 1.5 % (1.7 % in the previous 
year). 

23. Income Taxes

 2014 2013

in CHF 1’000

Current income taxes 6’326 6’213

Deferred income taxes 1’589 795

Total 7’915 7’008

The variance between the expected income tax 
expense, based on the expected income tax rate, 
and the effective income tax expense recorded in 
the consolidated income statement depends on 
the following determining factors. At the same 
time, the Group’s expected income tax rate is 
based on profit/loss before taxes and the tax rate 
pertaining to each individual subsidiary in the fis-
cal year.

 2014 2013

in CHF 1’000

Profit before taxes 31’338 27’828

Expected income tax rate 23.1 % 22.0 %

Expected income tax expense 7’252 6’116

Effect of non-recognition  
of tax loss carry-forwards in  
the financial year 256 704

Use of unrecognised tax loss 
carry-forwards –4 0

Recognition (reassessment) of 
loss carry-forwards of previous 
years 0 0

Derecognition (reassessment) 
of recognised loss carry- 
forwards 313 209

Effect of tax rate changes on 
deferred taxes 18 87

Effect of non-deductible 
 expenses 85 52

Tax result of previous   
periods –6 –160

Effective tax expenses 7’915 7’008

Effective income tax rate 25.3 % 25.2 %
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Tax loss carry-forwards are only recognised if they 
are expected to be used in the five years ahead 
depending on the profitability of the company, or 
the fiscal unity, respectively. This recognition is 
subject to annual reassessment based on current 
estimates of management. Tax carry-loss for-
wards of a subsidiary are not recognised if is not 
foreseeable that they can be offset with future 
profits.

As per 31. 12. 2014, tax loss carry-forwards of 
CHF 3.3 million (previous year: CHF 3.7 million) 
were recognised based on current estimates, gen-
erating deferred tax assets of CHF 0.8 million (pre-
vious year: CHF 0.9 million). The non-recognised 
loss carry-forwards amounted to CHF 9.7 million 
(previous year: CHF 8.9 million) as per 31. 12. 2014, 
with non-recognised positive tax effects of 
CHF 2.6 million (previous year: CHF 2.2 million). Of 
these non-recognised loss carry-forwards, 
CHF 0.6 million (previous year: CHF 1.4 million) will 
expire within 5 years, while CHF 9.1 million (pre-
vious year: CHF 7.5 million) are not subject to ex-
piry according to current tax law.
Deferred income taxes of TCHF –126 (previous 
year: TCHF 51) and the related underlying trans-
actions were recognised directly in equity. 

24. Transactions with Related Parties
Related parties include the Board of Directors, 
members of the Group Executive Management, 
the pension fund and important shareholders as 
well as companies under the control of these per-
sons, or decisively influenced by them. Transac-
tions with related parties are generally conducted 
at arm’s length.
The members of the Board of Directors (6 mem-
bers) are remunerated with a fixed salary or op-
tionally with own shares at a price of 25 % below 
market value. The Chairman of the Board of Direc-
tors receives additional compensation based on 
earnings. The members of Group Executive Man-
agement (7 members), receive a fixed salary, ad-
ditional compensation based on earnings and 
furthermore the possibility to purchase own 

shares with a retention period of 3 years at a price 
of 25 % below market value with a portion of the 
earnings based compensation. All compensation 
elements are included in the personnel expenses.

Total remuneration to the Board of Directors and 
Group Executive Management:

 2014 2013

in CHF 1’000

Short-term benefits 3’889 3’944

Social expenses 445 409

Benefit obligations 284 308

Stock ownership program 205 89

Total 4’823 4’750

Social security and employee benefit contribu-
tions include the employees’ and the employer’s 
contributions as well as the obligatory state social 
insurance and the corporate pension plan.
The Swiss pension fund was administrated by the 
Hügli Group and the Group was compensated 
with TCHF 26 (TCHF 26 in the previous year). Fur-
thermore, as in the previous year, there were nei-
ther accounts receivable nor accounts payable to 
related parties. No other considerable transac-
tions with related parties were effected.
Additional information on the compensation and 
participation of the Board of Directors and Group 
Executive Management as per Swiss Code of Ob-
ligations article 663b bis, is presented in the Notes 
to the Financial Statements of Hügli Holding AG 
on page 89 of this annual report.

 >> see page 89
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25. Earnings per Bearer Share

 2014 2013

in CHF 1’000

Group profit 23’423’000 20’820’000

Average number of bearer 
shares with par value of 
CHF 1.00 275’127 274’573

Average number of regis-
tered shares with par value 
of CHF 0.50 410’000 410’000

Total bearer shares –  
equivalents 480’127 479’573

Profit per bearer share  
(in CHF) 48.79 43.41

The average number of outstanding bearer shares 
is based on the number of the issued shares less 
the weighted average number of own shares. 
Since neither conversion nor option rights are 
 outstanding, the earnings per share are not di-
luted. 

26.  Subsequent Events after Balance 
Sheet Date

The consolidated financial statements were ap-
proved and released for publication by the Board 
of Directors on 26 March 2015. They are further-
more subject to approval at the Annual General 
Meeting on 20 May 2015.
The Swiss National Bank discontinued the mini-
mum exchange rate of 1.20 Swiss Francs per Euro 
as per 15 January 2015. The Swiss Franc thereup-
on soared against the Euro and other currencies 
relevant for Hügli. The amounts in the income 
statement are reported at year-end exchange 

rates as per 31 December 2014 or at average ex-
changes rates prevalent in 2014. Thus, they do not 
take into account the development of foreign ex-
changes rates after 31 December 2014.
Hügli’s consolidated financial statements are stat-
ed in Swiss Francs. The above-mentioned revalu-
ation of the Swiss Franc against relevant foreign 
currencies results in a negative foreign currency 
translation effect on sales and income, and 
through the revaluation of consolidated assets 
and liabilities also on equity. More than 80 % of 
Group sales, and more than 80 % of Group costs, 
are accrued in foreign currencies outside of Swit-
zerland. Overall, Hügli Switzerland shows a good 
natural foreign currency hedge. The major part of 
foreign currency revenues can therefore be reuti-
lised in the same currency as operating expendi-
tures. Consequently, operating currency losses are 
sustained only through the exchange of the small 
foreign currency surpluses (transaction effect). 
For the purpose of a sensitivity analysis, the fol-
lowing negative changes must be anticipated, if 
the Swiss Franc increases 10 % in value against all 
other currencies: sales –8 % to –9 %, EBIT –9 % to 
–11 % (EBIT margin: –0.3 percentage points), eq-
uity –9 % to –11 % (equity ratio: –2 percentage 
points).

No further events occurred between 31 Decem-
ber 2014 and the approval of the consolidated 
financial statements by the Board of Directors on 
26 March 2015 that would have caused an adjust-
ment of the book values of assets and liabilities 
of the Group or which would have to be disclosed 
in this position.
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Report of the Statutory Auditor  
on the Consolidated Financial Statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hügli Holding AG, which comprise the 
consolidated income statement, consolidated cash flow statement, consolidated balance sheet, consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and notes (pages 55 to 82), for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Board of Directors’ responsibility
The board of directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and the requirements of Swiss law. This responsibility includes designing, imple-
menting and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The board of Directors 
is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that 
are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conduct-
ed our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from mate-
rial misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consoli dated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting esti-
mates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 give a true and fair view 
of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and comply 
with Swiss law.

Report on Other Legal Requirements

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and inde-
pendence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal 
control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements according to 
the instructions of the board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

St. Gallen, March 26, 2015
OBT AG

Stefan Traber
Licensed Audit Expert
Auditor in Charge

Willi Holdener
Licensed Audit Expert
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 31. 12. 2014 31. 12. 2013

in CHF

Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 161’901 152’712

Accounts receivable from subsidiaries 3’149’452 4’583’865

Other receivables 14’928 39’664

Current assets 3’326’281 4’776’241

Loans to subsidiaries 167’007’779 148’771’849

Investments in subsidiaries 65’283’297 65’283’297

Intangible assets 1 1

Own shares 2’061’187 2’572’907

Non-current assets 234’352’264 216’628’054

Total assets 237’678’545 221’404’295

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity   

Short-term financial liabilities 34’990’800 26’519’100

Accounts payable to subsidiaries 47’005 8’359

Accrued expenses and deferred income 932’934 944’091

Long-term financial liabilities 27’000’000 38’140’000

Provisions for investments/loans 14’000’000 14’000’000

Liabilities 76’970’739 79’611’550

Share capital 485’000 485’000

General reserves 11’100’000 11’100’000

Reserve for own shares 2’061’187 2’572’907

Unrestricted reserves 110’000’000 100’000’000

Net profit for the year 37’061’619 27’634’838

Shareholders’ equity 160’707’806 141’792’745

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 237’678’545 221’404’295

Balance Sheet of Hügli Holding AG
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Income 2014 2013

in CHF

Income from investments (Dividends) 20’602’700 11’463’500

Income from subsidiaries 4’270’353 4’064’002

Financial income from subsidiaries 6’239’549 5’432’899

Other financial income 120’824 1’223’200

Other operating income 60’000 60’000

Total income 31’293’426 22’243’601

Expenses   

Personnel expenses –2’140’297 –2’135’382 

Other operating expenses –517’792 –458’668 

Interest expenses –943’445 –1’234’544 

Other financial expenses –1’594’457 –1’815

Taxes –459’784 –394’483 

Total expenses –5’655’775 –4’224’892

Net profit for the year 25’637’651 18’018’709 

Income Statement of Hügli Holding AG
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 31. 12. 2014 31. 12. 2013

in CHF

Profit carried forward 10’844’838 10’526’016

Increase/Decrease of reserve for own shares/Dividends on own shares 579’130 –909’887

Net profit of the year 25’637’651 18’018’709

Retained earnings 37’061’619 27’634’838

The Board of Directors proposes the following appropriation  
of the retained earnings to the General Meeting:   

Appropriation to the unrestricted reserves 15’000’000 10’000’000

Dividend payment 7’760’000 6’790’000

280’000 bearer shares (par value: CHF 1.00):   

CHF 16.00 dividend payment per share (PY: CHF 14.00 per share)   

 410’000 registred shares (par value: CHF 0.50):   

 CHF 8.00 dividend payment per share (PY: CHF 7.00 per share)   

Balance to be carried forward 14’301’619 10’844’838

Total 37’061’619 27’634’838

Proposed  
Appropriation of Retained Earnings

Payment per Bearer Share

Subject to approval by the General Meeting on 
20 May 2015 the payment per share is:

Bearer share (par value CHF 1.00) 2014 2013

in CHF

Dividend, gross 16.00 14.00

./. Withholding tax 35 % –5.60 –4.90

Payment per bearer share, net 10.40 9.10

The payment less 35 % withholding tax will be 
effected from Wednesday 27 May 2015 with cou-
pon no. 20 to all shareholders holding Hügli shares 
on Thursday 21 May 2015 at the close of the stock 
exchange. The bearer shares (security number 464 
795) will be traded ex dividend at the SIX Swiss 
Exchange starting 22 May 2015.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Basic Accounting Principles
The accounting of Hügli Holding AG is based on 
Swiss legislation (Swiss Code of Obligations). In-
vestments in subsidiaries and own shares are stat-
ed at acquisition costs less possible value adjust-
ments. Loans to subsidiaries, accounts receivable 
and accounts payable are recognised at par value. 
Foreign currency positions are translated at the 
year-end rate.

2. Contingent liabilities
Sureties, guarantee commitments and pledges in 
favour of third parties total CHF  25.9  million 
(CHF 29.0 million in the previous year). In essence, 
these secure the credit line contracts that are pro-
vided to Group subsidiaries by banks. 
No assets have been pledged or transferred to 
secure own commitments. There are no reserva-
tions of ownership.

3. Share capital/Major shareholders
The share capital of CHF  485’000 comprises 
280’000 bearer shares listed on the Swiss Stock 
Exchange (par value: CHF 1.00) and 410’000 pri-
vately held registered shares (par value: CHF 0.50). 
Each share grants one vote at the General Meet-
ing of the Shareholders, the dividend entitlement 
is calculated in proportion to the par value.
Owned by the founding family, Dr A. Stoffel Hold-
ing AG owned overall 410’000 registered shares 
(410’000 in the previous year) and 39’924 bearer 
shares (39’797 in the previous year) as of 
31. 12. 2014. This is equivalent to 50.5 % (50.5 % in 
the previous year) of the share capital and 65.2 % 
(65.2 % in the previous year) of the voting rights.

4. Own shares
In this financial year, the company sold 743 shares 
(947 in the previous year) at the reduced price of 
CHF 387.40 (CHF 375.00 in the previous year) per 
share to staff as part of the stock ownership pro-
gram. Furthermore, based on the regulations re-
garding the optional share-based payment to the 
Board of Directors, 767 shares (CHF  749 in the 
previous year) were transferred to Board members 
at the discounted rate of CHF 454.50 (CHF 390.00 

in the previous year) instead of cash compensa-
tion. The enactment of both share programs is 
subject to a retention period of 3 years and during 
that time remains in the custody of Hügli Hold-
ing AG.
In order to maintain the stock ownership plans, it 
was decided to acquire further Hügli shares on the 
market as from 2011. In 2014 no own shares were 
acquired (in the previous year 2’000 shares; at an 
average purchase price of CHF 521.86).
The amount of own shares was thereby reduced 
from 5’558 in the previous year by –1’510 to 4’048 
as per 31. 12. 2014.

5. Balance sheet valuation of Group 
loans/Currency differences
By the valuation of the balance sheet as at 
31. 12. 2014 negative currency differences on not 
currency congruent financed group loans arose in 
the net amount of CHF –1’601’269 (positive cur-
rency differences of CHF +651’982 in the previous 
year). They were recognised as other financial ex-
penses (other financial income in the previous 
year) in the income statement. The other transla-
tion differences amounted in the financial year 
CHF +8’320 (translation gains), CHF +9’906 in the 
previous year.

6. Hidden reserves
 In this financial year and in the previous year no 
hidden reserves were released.

7. Risk management
The Board of Directors of Hügli Holding AG is the 
group’s highest authority for strategic and oper-
ative risk assessment. The group-wide risk assess-
ment consists of controlling risk management 
procedures and periodic reporting of Group Exec-
utive Management to the Board of Directors re-
garding risk identification, analysis and monitor-
ing. To guarantee early identification and 
management of risks, risk management was as-
signed to the operating departments within the 
country organisations, which perform Group 
functions in the areas of financial accounting and 
reporting, treasury, quality management and pro-
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duction. The reporting on the effectiveness of risk 
management and the up-to-dateness of the risk 
inventory to Group Executive Management is car-
ried out by the executive managements of the 
countries and divisions.
Further information on financial risk management 
is presented in note 14 in the Notes to the Con-
solidated Financial Statements.

8. Significant subsidiaries
The subsidiaries of Hügli Holding AG as per bal-
ance sheet date are stated on page 92.
All Group companies are directly or indirectly in a 
100 % ownership of Hügli Holding AG.
 >> see page 92
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1 The variable compensation is based on a plan, which has been ap-
proved by the Board of Directors. The amount is determined by the 
 financial result and the contribution margin in the segments, the 
 individual members are responsible for. 

2 Share-related remuneration is based on a senior management partici-
pation program. For a limited part of the bonus it is possible to acquire 
shares at a preferential price of 75 % of the market value. The shares 
underlie a retention period of 3 years. Due to the retention period they 
show a discounted value in the compensation value. The Group Execu-
tive Management bought 718 bearer shares at a price of CHF 278 thou-
sand. The discounted market value amounted to CHF 373 thousand. 
Based on the regulations regarding the optional share-based payment 

to the Board of Directors 767 shares were transferred to Board mem-
bers at a price of CHF 349 thousand instead of cash compensation. 
These shares are also subject to a retention period of 3 years. The dis-
counted market value amounted to CHF 460 thousand.

3  The private part of the company car was determined by tax values. 
Real travel expenses are not included.

4  Social insurance includes the obligatory employer’s and employees’ 
contributions and the AHV/IV and the SUVA (Group Executive Man-
agement: CHF 314 thousand/Board of Directors: CHF 131 thousand). 
The pension plan includes obligatory and non-mandatory con-
tributions to the pension fund (Group Executive Management: 
CHF 197 thousand/Board of Directors: CHF 87 thousand).

9. Compensation

Compensation to Members of the Board of Directors

Compensation net

 Fix Variable1
 Stock ownership 

plans2
Company 

Car3

Compen-
sation  

to Board

Pension 
and 

 social In-
surance4

Total 
2014

Total 
2013

in 
CHF 1’000

in 
CHF 1’000 Number

in 
CHF 1’000

in 
CHF 1’000

in 
CHF 1’000

in 
CHF 1’000

in 
CHF 1’000

in 
CHF 1’000

Dr. Jean Gérard Villot, 
Chairman 518 140 259 38 8 704 179 883 824

Dr. Ida Hardegger 60 0 127 18 0 78 10 88 76

Fritz Höchner 60 0 127 18 0 78 7 85 72

Dr. Christoph Lechner 60 0 0 0 0 60 8 68 68

Dr. Ernst Lienhard 60 0 127 18 0 78 7 85 72

Dr. Alexander Stoffel 60 0 127 18 0 78 7 85 72

Total Board of Directors 818 140 767 110 8 1’076 218 1’294 1’184

 Entschädigungen an die Mitglieder der Konzernleitung

Compensation net

 Fix Variable1
 Stock ownership 

plans2
Company 

Car3

Compen-
sation  

to Board

Pension 
and 

 social In-
surance4

Total 
2014

Total 
2013

in 
CHF 1’000

in 
CHF 1’000 Number

in 
CHF 1’000

in 
CHF 1’000

in 
CHF 1’000

in 
CHF 1’000

in 
CHF 1’000

in 
CHF 1’000

Total Konzernleitung 2’530 341 718 95 52 3’018 511 3’529 3’566

thereof maximum  
total compensation 
Thomas Bodenmann, 
CEO 559 140 258 34 8 741 180 921 878
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10. Shareholdings
as per 31. Dezember

Number of bearer shares Number of registered shares  Voting rights

 2014 2013 2014 2013  2014  2013
in % in %

Dr. Jean Gérard Villot, Chairman 1’414 1’300   0.2 0.2

Dr. Ida Hardegger 722 777   0.1 0.1

Fritz Höchner 2’060 1’933   0.3 0.3

Dr. Christoph Lechner 111 111   <0.1 <0.1

Dr. Ernst Lienhard 669 542   0.1 0.1

Dr. Alexander Stoffel 39’924 39’797 410’000 410’000 65.2 65.2

Total Board of  Directors 44’900 44’460 410’000 410’000 65.9 65.9

Thomas Bodenmann 850 1’000   0.1 0.1

Dirk Balzer 343 214   <0.1 <0.1

Endrik Dallmann 203 133   <0.1 <0.1

Matthias Grün 70 0   <0.1 0.0

Manfred Jablowski 0 0   0.0 0.0

Jörg Meyer 195 133   <0.1 <0.1

Alexander Moosmann (until 31. 12. 2013)  728    0.1

Andreas Seibold 400 820   0.1 0.1

Total Group Executive Management 2’061 3’028   0.3 0.4
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Report of the Statutory Auditor  
on the Financial Statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of Hügli Holding AG, which comprise the balance sheet, 
income statement and notes (pages 84 to 90) for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Board of Directors’ responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the require-
ments of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes designing, implementing 
and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting and 
applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of ma-
terial misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appro-
priate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 comply with Swiss law and the compa-
ny’s articles of incorporation.

Report on Other Legal Requirements

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and inde-
pendence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal 
control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to the instructions 
of the Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the company’s 
articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

St. Gallen, March 26, 2015

OBT AG

Stefan Traber
Licensed Audit Expert
Auditor in Charge

Willi Holdener
Licensed Audit Expert
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Group Companies

   
 Participation  Nominal capital

 2014 2013 2014 2013

in % in % Einheit in 1’000

Hügli Holding AG Steinach, CH  
Telephone +41 71 447 22 11, E-Mail: info@huegli.com   CHF 485

Hügli Nährmittel AG Steinach, CH  
Telephone +41 71 447 22 11, E-Mail: info@huegli.com 100 100 CHF 1’100

Supro-Nährmittel AG, Steinach, CH  
Telephone +41 71 314 64 74, E-Mail: info@supro.ch 100 100 CHF 1’000

EPS Holding AG, Steinach, CH  
Telephone +41 71 447 22 11, E-Mail: info@huegli.com 100 100 CHF 250

Hügli Nährmittel-Erzeugung GmbH, Hard, AT  
Telephone +43 5574 6940, E-Mail: huegli@huegli.com 100 100 EUR 765

Huegli UK Ltd., Redditch, GB  
Telephone +44 1527 514 777, E-Mail: info@huegli.co.uk 100 100 GBP 1

Ali-Big Industria Alimentare s.r.l., Brivio, IT  
Telephone +39 039 5320 555, E-Mail: alibig@ali-big.it 100 100 EUR 94

Ali-Big Export s.r.l., Brivio, IT  
Telephone +39 039 5320 555, E-Mail: alibig@ali-big.it 100 100 EUR 10

Hügli Nahrungsmittel GmbH, Radolfzell, DE  
Telephone +49 7732 8070, E-Mail: huegli@huegli.de 100 100 EUR 25’500

Heirler Cenovis GmbH, Radolfzell, DE  
Telephone +49 7732 8071, E-Mail: info@heirler-cenovis.de 100 100 EUR 2’929

Vogeley Nahrungsmittel GmbH, Hameln, DE  
Telephone +49 5151 40040, E-Mail: onlineservice@vogeley.de 100 100 EUR 153

Natur Compagnie GmbH, Radolfzell, DE  
Telephone +49 7732 8073, E-Mail: info@natur-compagnie.de 100 100 EUR 30

Erntesegen Naturkost GmbH, Radolfzell, DE  
Telephone +49 7732 807 620, E-Mail: info@erntesegen.de 100 100 EUR 26

Inter-Planing GmbH, Neuburg, DE  
Telephone +49 8283 99 880, E-Mail: info@inter-planing.de 100 100 EUR 260

OSCHO GmbH, Neuburg, DE  
Telephone +49 8283 99 860, E-Mail: info@oscho-versand.de 100 100 EUR 26

Hügli Food s.r.o., Zasmuky, CZ  
Telephone +420 321 759 611, E-Mail: info@huegli.cz 100 100 CZK 80’000

Hügli Food Polska sp.z o.o., Lodz, PL  
Telephone +48 42 611 00, E-Mail: robert.matysiak@huegli.com.pl 100 100 PLN 50

Hügli Food Slovakia s.r.o., Trnava, SK  
Telephone +421 33 535 4773, E-Mail: maria.binovska@huegli.sk 100 100 EUR 7

Hügli Food Kft., Budapest, HU  
Telephone +36 450 00 32, E-Mail: zoltan.molnar@huegli.hu 100 100 HUF 3’000
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SEGMENTS/DIVISIONS

  2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Unit

Key figures of geographic Segments       

Sales Germany m. CHF 229.0 216.0 172.6 175.0 194.0

Change relative to previous year % 6.0 25.1 –1.3 –9.8 –5.2

Organic growth % 7.3 4.9 1.0 1.2 3.5

EBIT Germany m. CHF 20.5 21.5 14.6 18.5 25.4

As % of sales % 9.0 9.9 8.5 10.6 13.1

Change relative to previous year % –4.3 46.8 –21.1 –26.9 10.0

Sales Switzerland/Rest of Western Europe m. CHF 117.9 119.3 117.8 120.7 129.0

Change relative to previous year % –1.2 1.3 –2.4 –6.5 –2.9

Organic growth % –1.9 1.4 –2.8 –0.6 0.9

EBIT Switzerland/Rest of Western Europe m. CHF 10.4 7.0 5.9 10.0 10.1

As % of sales % 8.8 5.9 5.0 8.3 7.9

Change relative to previous year % 48.0 18.2 –40.7 –1.3 –5.8

Sales Eastern Europe m. CHF 30.1 32.0 34.4 36.4 49.2

Change relative to previous year % –5.8 –7.0 –5.6 –26.0 –6.8

Organic growth % –0.8 –6.8 –1.2 9.2 8.7

EBIT Eastern Europe m. CHF 1.4 0.8 1.0 –0.1 2.3

As % of sales % 4.6 2.6 2.9 –0.2 4.7

Change relative to previous year % 65.5 –14.3 n.a –103.2 55.2

Sales of Divisions       

Food Service m. CHF 161.6 163.7 133.3 139.9 153.4

Change relative to previous year % –1.3 22.8 –4.7 –8.8 –4.6

Organic growth % 0.3 0.3 –2.8 –0.6 1.5

Private Label m. CHF 77.4 70.9 70.9 69.6 80.6

Change relative to previous year % 9.1 0.0 1.9 –13.7 –3.9

Organic growth % 10.7 –1.4 4.1 5.5 11.8

Brand Solutions m. CHF 56.1 52.1 43.5 41.0  

Change relative to previous year % 7.7 19.8 7.7   

Organic growth % 7.1 17.8 8.0   

Food Industry m. CHF 36.7 36.2 35.8 39.1  

Change relative to previous year % 1.4 1.2 –8.6   

Organic growth % 0.7 –4.4 –9.2   

Consumer Brands m. CHF 44.6 43.9 41.0 42.1  

Change relative to previous year % 1.4 7.3 –4.6   

Organic growth % 2.8 5.0 –2.0   

Key Figures 5-Year Summary
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GROUP

  2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Unit

Sales m. CHF 377.0 367.8 324.8 332.0 372.2

Change relative to previous year % 2.6 13.1 –2.2 –10.8 –4.7

Organic growth % 3.6 2.4 –0.6 1.4 3.2

Operating profit before depreciation (EBITDA) m. CHF 45.9 42.8 33.6 39.8 48.8

As % of sales % 12.2 11.7 10.3 12.0 13.1

Change relative to previous year % 7.1 27.7 –15.8 –18.3 5.8

Operating profit (EBIT) m. CHF 32.3 29.3 21.5 28.5 37.8

As % of sales % 8.6 8.0 6.6 8.6 10.2

Change relative to previous year % 10.2 36.1 –24.3 –24.7 7.1

Net Group profit m. CHF 23.4 20.8 15.0 19.5 27.4

As % of sales % 6.2 5.7 4.6 5.9 7.3

Change relative to previous year % 12.5 38.8 –22.9 –28.8 18.1

Cash flow from operating activities m. CHF 31.9 40.2 23.8 25.8 38.8

As % of sales % 8.5 10.9 7.3 7.8 10.4

Investments (tangible and intangible assets) m. CHF 16.3 21.9 13.8 20.7 26.1

Number of employees  
(FTEs at balance sheet date)  1’378 1’321 1’252 1’298 1’377

Invested capital (Net operating assets) m. CHF 228.6 220.7 230.9 204.0 195.7

Net working capital m. CHF 97.8 90.6 93.1 83.7 79.5

Tangible and intangible assets m. CHF 130.8 130.1 137.8 120.3 116.2

Equity m. CHF 150.2 136.9 125.5 119.7 111.7

As % of total assets % 56.8 53.4 48.0 50.5 48.2

Net debt 1 m. CHF 56.4 65.4 86.8 69.9 68.8

Gearing (Ratio to equity)  0.38 0.48 0.69 0.58 0.62

Net debt to EBITDA ratio  1.2 1.5 2.6 1.8 1.4

Interest coverage ratio (EBIT/Interest expenses)  30.6 20.0 11.2 13.5 14.9

Return on invested capital (ROIC) 2  % 10.9 9.8 7.8 10.6 14.3

Return on equity (ROE) 3 % 16.6 16.3 12.2 16.6 25.0

Information per bearer share  
(security no. 464795)       

Net profit per bearer share CHF 48.79 43.41 31.18 40.51 57.09

Dividend (proposal for 2014) CHF 16.00 14.00 12.00 15.50 15.50

Payout ratio % 33 32 38 38 27

Equity per bearer share CHF 310 282 259 247 230

Market price 31. 12. CHF 724 517 500 567 689

Market price high CHF 739 550 670 761 700

Market price low CHF 516 486 472 520 495

Enterprise Value 31. 12. m. CHF 407 316 329 345 403

Price/Earnings Ratio 31. 12.  14.8 11.9 16.0 14.0 12.1

Enterprise Value/EBITDA 31. 12.  8.9 7.4 9.8 8.7 8.3

Definitions
1 Net debt = Interest bearing financial debts – Cash and equivalents
2 Return on invested capital (ROIC) = NOPAT (EBIT × (1 – actual taxes))/ 

NOA (Average Net working capital and Tangible and intangible assets)
3 Return to equity (ROE) = Net profit/Average equity

Key Figures 5-Year Summary
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••• Hügli online  
Reports, Media Releases and Share 
Information: www.huegli.com/en/
investor- relations/ 

••• Investor Relations 
Andreas Seibold, CFO 
Tel.  +41 71 447 22 50  
Fax  +41 71 447 22 51 
andreas.seibold@huegli.com 

••• Agenda  
15 April 2015/07.30 a. m. 
Media Release: 
Annual Report 2014/Sales Q1 2015 
15 April 2015/10.30 a. m. 
Media and Analysts’ Conference 
Widder Hotel, Zurich 
20 May 2015/04.30 p. m. 
Annual General Meeting of Share-
holders, Seeparksaal Arbon 
22 May 2015 
ex dividend date 
27 May 2015 
Dividend payment 
19 August 2015/07.30 a. m. 
Media Release: 
Half-Year Report 2015 

••• Concept/Design 
PETRANIX 
Corporate and Financial  
Communications AG 
8134 Adliswil–Zurich, Switzerland 

••• Publishing System 
Stämpfli AG 
3001 Berne, Switzerland 

••• Printing and processing 
Buchdruckerei Lustenau GmbH 
6890 Lustenau, Austria

••• Disclaimer 
All statements in this report that do not relate to historical 
facts are forward-looking statements and no guarantees of 
future performance. Forward-looking statements involve 
risks and uncertainties, namely in reference to basic macro-
economic conditions, consumption behaviour, foreign ex-
change rates, financing opportunities, changes of legal provi-
sions or in the political and social environment, the actions of 
competitors, availability of raw material, and general market 
conditions. Such circumstances can lead to variance between 
anticipated and actual results. 
 
Translation: The original of this Annual Report is written in 
German. In the case of inconsistencies between the German 
original and this English translation, the German version shall 
prevail.
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Hügli Holding AG
Bleichestrasse 31
9323 Steinach, Switzerland
Tel. +41 71 447 22 11 
Fax +41 71 447 29 98
info@huegli.com
www.huegli.com
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